
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Friday, 23rd October, 2015

10.00 am

Swale 1/2, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





REVISED AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Friday, 23rd October, 2015, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Swale 1/2, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership (15)

Conservative (5): Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs P T Cole, 
Mr G Lymer and Mrs J Whittle

UKIP (2): Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman) and Mr B Neaves

Labour (1): Ms C J Cribbon

Liberal Democrat (1): Mr M J Vye

Co-opted Members 
(6):

Mrs T Carpenter,  Mr C Dowle, Ms S Dunstan, Mr S Griffiths, Ms C 
Moody and Ms B Taylor

The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE PRESS AND PUBLIC FOR EXEMPT ITEM
That, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 1 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.



EXEMPT ITEM
1 The Views of Young People in care (discussion item) 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

A.  PANEL BUSINESS
A1 Apologies and substitutes 

A2 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 3 September 2015 (Pages 5 - 14)

A3 Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group held on 24 
September 2015, and brief verbal update (Pages 15 - 22)

A4 Chairman's Announcements 

A5 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

A6 Verbal Updates (Pages 23 - 24)

B.  ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION
B1 Kent Foster Carers' issues: Discussion led by Glenn Williamson, Chair of Kent 

Foster Care Association (KFCA) 

B2 Independent Reviewing Officer Service Annual Report 2014/15 (Pages 25 - 46)

B3 Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) Annual Report 2014- 2015 (Pages 
47 - 68)

B4 Kent Specialist Children's Services Performance Management Scorecards, 
August 2015 (Pages 69 - 74)

Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services 
03000 416647

Thursday, 15 October 2015

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



1

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 3 September 2015.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs P T Cole, Mr C Dowle, Ms S Dunstan, Mr S Griffiths, 
Mrs S Howes (Substitute for Ms C J Cribbon), Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, 
Mr B Neaves, Ms B Taylor, Mr M J Vye and Mrs J Whittle

ALSO PRESENT: Mr P J Oakford

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr P Segurola (Interim Director of Specialist Children's Services), 
Mr G Gurney (Interim Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting) and 
Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

92. Apologies and Substitutes 

Apologies had been received from Mrs T Carpenter and Ms C J Cribbon. Mrs S 
Howes was present as a substitute for Ms Cribbon.  

93. Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 18 June 2015 
(Item A2)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel meeting held on 18 June 2015 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. There were no matters 
arising.

94. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item A3)

1. The Chairman proposed that the Panel’s minutes be sent to full Council for 
information, as well as to the Children’s Social Care and Health Cabinet Committee, 
as at present.  This would raise the profile of the corporate parenting role of all 
elected Members. Miss Grayell undertook to look into taking this forward. 

2. The Chairman also referred to Democracy Week, starting on 17 October, and 
suggested that this would be an opportunity for young people to find out about 
standing for election as councillors and be able to take part in shaping future services 
for young people in care. 

95. Meeting Dates for 2016/2017 
(Item A4)

RESOLVED that the dates reserved for the Panel’s meetings in 2016 and early 2017 
be noted, as follows:-



Thursday 28 January 2016 – 1.00 pm
Tuesday 15 March 2016 – 1.00 pm
Thursday 26 May 2016 – 10.00 am
Wednesday 20 July 2016 – 1.00 pm
Wednesday 7 September 2016 – 1.00 pm
Wednesday 9 November 2016 – 1.00 pm

Friday 20 January 2017 – 10.00 am
Monday 20 March 2017 – 1.00 pm

96. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item A5)

1. Ms Taylor and Mr Dowle gave a verbal update, as follows:-

Sophia Dunstan had now returned from maternity leave.
OCYPC Summer Countywide meeting - this had had a good attendance of 22 
young people and had looked at the Participation Strategy, with the aim of producing 
a version written specifically for young people. 
OCYPC Junior Council – this was being established for young people aged 7 – 11.
Youth Adult Council (YAC) – young people were being trained and encouraged to 
participate in interview panels, monthly evening meetings were planned and the first 
newsletter was due to be launched by the end of September.  
Challenge Cards – these gave young people an opportunity to issue a challenge to 
the Kent Corporate Parenting Group (KCPG) to make improvements to their care 
experience. Some examples of challenge cards had been tabled for the Panel to see. 
Mr Segurola clarified that if ‘no reply’ to a challenge card had been recorded, this was 
because cards were reported to KCPG meetings, and a reply would be made at the 
next scheduled meeting of the KCPG.
Publishing updates - the OCYPC was working with young people and the County 
Council’s communications team to develop the pack of information about being in 
care, to be given to young people in the first few days after they come into care. The 
pack would also be available to download from the Kent Cares Town website.
Summer Participation Activity Days – there had been five of these across East 
and West Kent during August, mostly well attended. A total of 167 young people had 
taken part, some for the first time.  
Leading Improvements for Looked After Children (LILAC) – young people 
attending events through the summer had been encouraged to record their views by 
submitting a LILAC assessment, ahead of the LILAC assessment on 21 – 23 
September. 
A DVD was being made by the VSK apprentices, about the experience of being in 
care. It would be useful to compare the experiences of young people in the care 
system with those of their peers not in care.  The participants would be drawn from 
an older age bracket so they could consent to their contributions being used on 
YouTube and in other media, to spread the message further. 
A visit to the Hardelot Centre in France, which the Panel had heard about at an 
earlier meeting, was being arranged. Mr Doran reminded the Panel that resources 
previously available from Youth Opportunities funding to support VSK events was no 
longer available.  Ms Taylor reported that fundraising for the Hardelot visit would 
include a quiz night and other events. 



2. In response to a question about scope for Members to support fundraising 
using their combined Members grants, Mr Oakford clarified that individual Members 
could make a contribution from their grant to support a project (but not an individual), 
in response to an application from the project organiser. Members were pleased to 
hear this and re-stated their wish to support fundraising. 

3. The verbal updates were NOTED, with thanks.

97. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item A6)

1. Mr P J Oakford gave a verbal update on issues around unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children (UASC):

 Kent still had a large number of UASC, currently 729 (having increased from 
368 since March 2015)

 There were currently two reception centres being used to accommodate 
UASC – Millbank and Swattenden - and one very shortly to come into use – 
the former Ladesfield Care Home in  Whitstable. 

 Almost all UASC were young men and these centres were all exclusively for 
young men. There were very few girls among the numbers, and any girls 
arriving would be placed with foster carers until they were 18, rather than at a 
centre.  

 Plans to use the Ladesfield building had been leaked by the media and had 
attracted unpleasant reactions on social media and from local residents.  600 
complaints about its use had been received within 24 hours of the news being 
leaked. 

 News of the intention to use the Swattenden centre at Appledore had been 
carefully managed and local reaction had been much better. A select number 
of media representatives had been taken to visit the Millbank centre to see the 
basic but good facilities there, and the County Council had made a film about 
the work of the centre. No cameras had been permitted at this visit, and 
reporting rules had been very stringent, so the reporting of issues could be 
controlled. The media were able to hear at first hand from the young men 
housed there, to show the reality of their situation. UASC had stated their 
priorities as being to feel that they were safe, to know that their families were 
safe, and to join and contribute to Kent society.  

 Mr Segurola said that he and Mr Ireland were seeking, via the Association for 
the Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS) and the Local Government 
Association (LGA), to establish a voluntary national dispersal programme, via 
which other local authorities would volunteer to take responsibility for the 
accommodation and support of small numbers of UASC from Kent, to spread 
the number around the country and make the burden easier to manage. Mr 
Segurola expressed his gratitude to those authorities who had already 
provided support and said that a more formal scheme would hopefully soon be 
established. 



 Mr Oakford and Mr Segurola had taken part in media interviews about UASC. 
The Chairman added that she had been asked by Radio Kent to comment on 
the issue, and had emphasised that UASC were children, first and foremost, 
and the County Council had a duty to do its best for them.

 A foster carer on the Panel said that his family was currently caring for some 
UASC. This brought challenges, not least in being able to communicate with 
them in a language they understood. 

2. In response to questions:-

a) Mr Oakford clarified that UASC under 16 would be placed in foster care 
and those aged 16 and 17 would be placed in a reception centre for a 
period of 6 to 8 weeks, during which they would undergo a health 
assessment, and then in supported lodgings or shared accommodation 
with outreach support. Any requiring more support than this would be 
placed in foster care; and

b) Mr Segurola added that there were currently 130 UASC housed with the 
County Council’s in-house foster carers and another 80 with independent 
fostering providers. In addition, a small number had been placed out of 
county. 

3. The verbal updates were NOTED, and the Chairman thanked all those 
involved in working with and supporting UASC for the excellent job they were doing. 

98. Adoption Service Annual Reports for 2014 - 2015 
(Item B1)

Ms Y Shah, Interim Head of Adoption, was in attendance for this item. 

1. Ms Shah introduced the report and, with Mr Segurola, responded to comments 
and questions from the Panel, as follows:-

a) Ms Shah was thanked for the work of the Adoption team and for the clarity 
and fullness of the reporting to the Panel.  She emphasised that joint 
working was important and that the role played by foster carers and 
colleagues in the childcare, health and education teams was as important 
in supporting the improvement of the adoption process;

b) the 2015 adoption summit had been fascinating and it was hoped that all 
County Council Members would attend next year;

c) a view was expressed that the judiciary should be subject to the same 
scrutiny as adoption teams and others involved in the adoption process.  
Ms Shah explained that a piece of work by Coram, Kent County Council 
and the University of Bristol was currently underway, looking at the 
appropriate use of special guardianship orders.  Mr Segurola added that 
the County Council needed to be clear about the risks of granting special 
guardianship orders and better prepared to challenge their use in court.  
He added that a national benchmark for the time taken for family law 
proceedings had been set at 26 weeks, and that Kent had met this target; 



d) in comparing Kent’s performance to that of other local authorities, it was 
important to take account of the care populations of the areas being 
compared; 

e) asked about the percentage of cases turned down for adoption and what 
effect this had on the way in which future cases were considered, Mr 
Segurola explained that, when an adoption had not gone ahead, it was 
usually because either the child returned to their birth family or someone 
else from the birth family had come forward to adopt them. This pattern 
would not deter the County Council from pursuing adoption proceedings if 
this was considered to be the right option for the child; 

f) asked about post-adoption and peer support, Ms Shah explained that a 
countywide Adoption Advisory Board was based in Maidstone and local 
adoption support groups were available around the county; and

g) asked about the sufficiency of adopters from black and minority ethnic 
backgrounds, Ms Shah explained that, as many children coming forward 
for adoption had dual heritage, matching them to adopters of the same 
race had never been an issue. Focus had always been on matching a child 
with suitable adopters who could meet their needs rather than on matching 
them by ethnicity.  

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report be noted, with thanks, 
and that Ms Shah and the adoption team be congratulated on their excellent 
work.

99. Kent Fostering Annual Report 2014 - 2015 
(Item B2)

1. Mr Gurney introduced the report and responded to comments and questions 
from the Panel, as follows:

a) the work on the transformation programme undertaken by the County 
Council’s efficiency partner, Newton Europe, had resulted in the County 
Council making more use of its in-house foster carers.  The percentage of 
children placed with in-house foster carers had risen from 60% to 83%, and 
the target was to increase this further, to 85 - 87%. Newton Europe would 
also leave Kent with some useful tools with which it could shape future 
work; 

b) asked about what opportunities there were for foster carers to comment on 
the fostering service, Mr Gurney explained that he spoke regularly with 
foster carers about key issues, including getting financial support for 
staying put, help with understanding and preparing young people for their 
options beyond 18, UASC and the need to increase the number of foster 
carers willing and able to take them, and claiming expenses. He assured 
the Panel that he was fully aware of the excellent work that foster carers 
undertook in supporting children in care in Kent;



c) the Corporate Parenting Select Committee had identified the need for 
elected Members to meet foster carers to increase their awareness of the 
foster carers’ role; 

d) a foster carer on the Panel added that good communications were a key 
issue, and being able to help young people to obtain a passport;

e) a view was expressed that the Panel should receive regular update reports 
on progress against the fostering improvement plan.   The location of the 
Fostering Support Teams within the Children in Care Service worked well 
operationally but it was important that an overview of the Service as a 
whole could be retained. Mr Gurney added that staff were receiving training 
to help them make the best use of the Liberi data management system to 
support the improvement plan. The Liberi system had been in place for 
only 18 months and some of its features were only just being used fully, for 
example uploading electronic files; and 

f) responding to a question about how allegations against social workers 
were recorded, Mr Gurney explained that the aim was to record allegations 
on the spot or within 48 hours of the allegation being made, but practice 
varied.  The speaker expressed concern that 48 hours may be too long for 
the details to be recalled and recorded clearly, and may not stand up to 
scrutiny, for instance if the issue were to proceed to court proceedings. Mr 
Gurney reassured the Panel that the number of such cases was very small 
but undertook to look into how the recording process could be improved.

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report be noted, with thanks, 
and an update report on the fostering improvement plan be made to the Panel 
in a year’s time.  

100. Review of Terms of Reference for Corporate Parenting Panel 
(Item B3)

1. Mr Segurola introduced the report and explained that the main reasons for 
reviewing the Panel’s terms of reference were to review and update the links to the 
Kent Corporate Parenting Group and to strengthen the engagement element of the 
Panel’s role. 

 
2. The Panel then discussed its work, particularly the way in which it engaged 
with young people. Comments made were as follows:-

a) approximately half of the Panel’s work took the form of monitoring, and a 
question was asked about the extent to which this helped the Panel to fulfil 
its role.  Mr Segurola explained that monitoring was  a statutory 
responsibility of the Panel but was only part of its work; 

b) Mr Segurola suggested that the Panel could get a useful perspective by 
asking young people what the Panel meant to them; 

c) the Chairman suggested that a shadow Corporate Parenting Panel or 
Board of young people could meet in advance of the main Panel meeting, 



perhaps attended by two or three Members of the main Panel, and feed 
into and comment on the agenda for the main Panel;  

d) it was suggested that Panel Members could try a ‘rapporteur’ role, for 
example attending meetings of the Fostering Advisory Board. Panel 
Members already had the habit of attending OCYPC meetings and 
participation days.  However, feedback from such events needed to be in a 
structured format; 

e) the role of the Panel in developing expertise and actively raising the 
awareness of other Members was featured in the Panel’s original terms of 
reference but was not in the revised version. This role was an important 
part of the Panel’s work and should be explicit in the revised terms of 
reference. Suitable regular training would also be required to keep 
Members’ knowledge up to date, including updates on changes in 
legislation pertinent to the subject area. Paragraph 7 d) in the revised 
terms of reference needed to be strengthened; 

f) the Chairman suggested that the minutes of the Panel be submitted to the 
full Council for information, once approved by the Panel; 

g) to gain feedback from young people and their carers in a relaxed 
atmosphere, the Panel could organise a ‘funday’ once or twice a year. 
OCYPC meetings were useful for gaining feedback but did not take place 
at weekends, when families were more able to attend together; and 

h) it was suggested that the agenda for every meeting of the Panel include an 
item on the experiences of young people in care, either by inviting some 
young people to attend or by the regular feedback report that the Panel 
had established as part of its work programme.

3. RESOLVED that the revised terms of reference be agreed, with the caveat 
that the wording around developing expertise and actively raising the 
awareness of other Members (paragraph 7d)) be strengthened. 

101. Review of Health Services for Children Looked After in Kent 
(Item B4)

Ms N Sayer, Designated Nursed for Looked After Children, and Ms H Carpenter, 
Accountable Officer for Thanet and South Kent Coast Clinical Commissioning 
Groups, and Chair of the Kent Joint Children In Need Health Commissioning Group, 
were in attendance for this item.

1. Ms Sayer introduced the report and highlighted key areas of work and, with Ms 
Carpenter, responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as follows:-

a) Panel members were reassured that the clinical commissioning groups’ 
(CCGs’) role in providing health services for children in care extended to all 
children in care in Kent, including those placed by other local authorities.  A 
reciprocal arrangement with CCGs in other areas meant that any Kent 
children placed out of county would be covered in the same way.  Any child 



being placed would have a health assessment undertaken first, to ensure 
that the placement could meet their healthcare needs; 

b) the joint working arrangements set out in the report were welcomed, and 
the existing links would be strengthened when the Health Visitor service 
came under County Council control in October 2015; 

c) the concept of having a ‘key nurse’ for children in care was welcomed, as 
having one consistent contact within the complexity of the NHS would help 
children, and having one person responsible for keeping a child’s 
healthcare plan up to date would be easier and provide continuity.  Ms 
Sayer added that a nurse was the best person to take on this role as they 
could understand information from both the social work and medical 
perspectives, and a GP would not have the time to take on this role; 

d) asked about children placed in care by other local authorities not being 
able to access mental health services, Ms Sayer said she shared 
Members’ frustration about the number of children placed without checks 
first being made about the availability of suitable healthcare. She said she 
would expect the designated nurse in the placing authority to contact her 
before a placement, to check the availability of health services. The next 
financial year should show an improvement in this pattern. If proper 
advance notification of an intended placement were made, this would help 
resource planning and service provision. Mr Segurola confirmed that the 
onus was indeed upon the placing authority to consult Kent about social 
care and health services before placing a child, particularly considering that 
many of the 1,300 children placed in Kent by other local authorities needed 
emotional health and wellbeing services. Placing authorities had been 
reminded of their responsibilities but still the problem persisted.  Ms 
Carpenter reminded the Panel that much work was going on regarding 
CAMHS, and having a clearer picture of the demand for services could 
only help this work.  She would shortly be contacting CCG colleagues in 
neighbouring authorities to take this forward; and
  

e) Ms Sayer and Ms Carpenter directed the Panel’s attention to a chart in the 
report which showed the relationship between a new group – the Kent Joint 
Adoption and LAC Health Commissioner Group – which Ms Carpenter 
chaired, and other health bodies. This Group’s agendas were subject-
based, and the next would be looking at issues around adoption.  

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report be noted, with thanks, 
and a further update report on health services for Children in Care be provided 
in twelve months’ time.    

102. Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) update report 
(Item B5)

Mr T Doran, Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent, was in attendance for this item.

1. Mr Doran introduced the report and responded to comments and questions 
from the Panel, as follows:-



a) it was too early as yet to report this year’s complete GCSE exam results for 
children in care as only 60% of results had so far been received. These would 
be reported to the Panel’s October meeting; 

b) provisional Key Stage 2 SATS results had been the best ever for Kent:-

71.1% had passed Level 4 reading, a 6% improvement since 2014 and 3% 
above the national average for children in care;

61.8% had passed Level 4 writing, a 3% improvement since 2014 and 
2.8% above the national average for children in care;

64.5% had passed Level 4 maths, a 7.5% improvement since 2014 and 
3.5% above the national average for children in care; and

GCSE potential, ie the percentage of young people likely to pass GCSE at 
A – C, a combination of all the above scores, was 52.6%, an 8.6% 
improvement since 2014 and 4.6% above the national average for children 
in care. 

c) in response to a question about access to therapeutic work via the Young 
Healthy Minds service, Mr Doran explained that VSK would use the Southern 
Trust model to identify the costs, value and impact of this service; 

d) a foster carer expressed concerns about services for young people over 16 
who were trying to adjust from full-time school attendance to a part-time 
college course, and the challenge of filling the rest of their time usefully. Mr 
Doran said that VSK had limited resources so could not provide activities per 
se, but could help identify gaps in provision and signpost young people to 
possibilities;

e) if a young person had too little to fill their time constructively, this could put a 
strain on the placement and relationship with their foster family, possibly 
leading to the placement breaking down. Finding suitable activities for young 
people with special needs or disabilities was an added challenge; and

f) finding part-time employment could fill the gap but this was sometimes not a 
workable option for a young person with disabilities or special needs.

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report be noted, with thanks, 
and the VSK team be congratulated on the scores achieved by children in care 
at Key Stage 2.





Kent Corporate Parenting Group
Minutes of the meeting held on 24 September

Library, Oakwood House

Present: Apologies 
Philip Segurola – Interim Director, Specialist 
Children’s Services

Nick Wilkinson – Assistant Head of Integrated 
Youth Services

Geoff Gurney – Assistant Director, Lead for 
Corporate Parenting

Rebecca Ransley – Interim Children and Young 
Person’s Service Manager, South Kent

Paul Brightwell – Head of Quality Assurance Nancy Sayer – Designated Nurse for Looked 
After Children

Joanne Rabbitte – Interim Children and Young 
Person’s Service Manager, West Kent

Sue Mullin – Commissioning Support Manager, 
NHS Thanet Clinical Commissioning Group

Andy Heather – Principal Educational 
Psychologist

Ann Furminger – Service Delivery Director, CXK

Martin Vye – Elected Member for Canterbury Stephen Gray – CEO, Young Lives Foundation
Sue Clifton – County Manager 18+ Service Maureen Robinson – Manager, Management 

Information Unit
Roberta Fullerton – CXK (attending for Ann 
Furminger)
Anne Nerva - Children and Young Person’s 
Service Manager, Thanet
Carrie Bill – Interim Children and Young 
Person’s Service Manager, Canterbury/Swale
Sarah Whittaker – Children and Young Person’s 
Service Manager, North Kent
Sarah Skinner – Business Manager, Virtual 
School Kent
Simon Bounds – Participation and Progression 
Officer, Skills and Employability Service
Dr Noreen Ahmed-Bhatti – Designated Doctor, 
East Kent Hospitals Trust
Margaret Pike (Minutes)

Item 
No

General Overview of discussion, followed by decisions and actions in bold Actions

1. Welcome and Introductions

 Philip Segurola welcomed everyone and introductions made 
2. Minutes and Matters Arising 

 Page 2 - Police invitation to this meeting – There was a dedicated 
workshop on CSE last week which police attended, so they haven’t been 
asked to attend this meeting.  Later on in the schedule will revisit CSE for 



Children in care.  The Police lead for CSE has been joining in multi-
agency meetings with for 18+

 Page 2 – CAMHS measure – Geoff Gurney and Nancy have looked at 
how it is recorded on Liberi when children and young people are 
receiving a service from CAMHS but no definite answer as yet.  Action: 
response from MIU to be circulated

 Page 2 - Challenge Cards  – on the agenda 

 Page 3 – Terms of Reference – Geoff has been looking at whether we 
should be using Children in Care in preference to LAC.  We can’t change 
the language everywhere as other local authorities and agencies use 
varying terms.  The term LAC is diminutive to children so we have chosen 
to use CiC in local procedures.  Some local authorities used Children 
Looked After (CLA).  The main point is that we listen to the children’s 
voice, children and young people aren’t worried about what they are 
called it’s about how they are treated and the service they receive. 

 Page 5 – Terms of Reference – Sue Mullin is unable to attend due to a 
regional UASC workshop.  She has provided a revised Terms of 
Reference for Health Commissioners and will update at the next meeting.  
Action – Sue Mullin to provide report at next meeting 

 Page 5 – Update from Corporate Parenting Panel – Geoff Gurney had a 
meeting with NHS colleagues which was very useful and has resulted in 
heath being involved in tender process and kept in the loop.  Tender 
process not yet finished 

 Page 5 – CIC Scorecard - on the agenda 

 Page 5 – CiC Scorecard – Clarification the children should be registered 
with a dentist by the age of 2.  

 Definition of the Dental Checks (extract of DfE guidance)

2.9.7 Teeth checked by a dentist

To be completed for all children at 31 March 2015 who had been looked after 
continuously for at least 12 months.  Record whether the children had their teeth 
checked by a dentist in the year ending 31 March.  Treat children who declined 
to have their teeth checked as not having received a dental check.

All children covered in this cohort can be expected to have their teeth checked.  
Very young children should still have an oral examination even if their teeth 
have not yet developed.  For very young children the examination does not have 
to be undertaken by a dentist and an examination by a paediatrician or other 
healthcare professional which included an oral examination may be counted.

 Page 5 – CIC Scorecard – Tony Doran to update on this action as part of 
the later agenda 

 Page 6 – Health – carry forward to next meeting 

 Page 6 – Dates for next meetings added to bottom of minutes.  Dates for 

MR

SM



next year to be choreographed with Corporate Parenting Panel.  Action – 
Philip Segurola to plan these with Margaret Pike

 Minutes agreed 

PS/MP

3. Update from Corporate Parenting Panel

 Corporate Parenting Panel has 2 important groups that attend: VSK 
apprentices and Foster Carers.  Following on from the discussion from 
KCPG minutes regarding the importance of having comments from 
Foster Carers.  Apprentices are being involved interviews for Social 
Workers and Foster Carers.  Children in Care councils are a good way of 
making sure the voice of Children in Care and Care Leavers is heard  
Councillor Vye has attended a Children in Care Council meeting and was 
impressed how it works

 UASC is very much in the minds of members.  If we are as a nation to be 
taking more refugees there is a moral view for taking orphans.

 Adoption report was presented to the panel showing a steady 
improvement.  Important developments in terms of post adoption support 
from Social Workers and clinicians.   It makes it somewhat easier to place 
children that need therapy when these are in place

 Fostering annual report presented to panel, children and young people 
are being involved in the training of foster carers 

 Data – Geoff Gurney feedback on the IT system which is better than 
elsewhere but is still a work in progress.  Information is still being stored 
on paper and electronic files.  Corporate Parenting Panel is assured 
things are getting better and recorded more accurately.  The panel can’t 
perform it’s scrutiny role without accurate data 

 There was also an excellent report presented on VSK including the use of 
pupil premium and access to therapy from Educational Psychology and 
there are some inventive models 

4. Challenge Cards 

 Challenge 1 – Savings – Foster Carers are encouraged to open savings 
accounts for children and young people.  There is a feeling that some 
young people expect a certain amount and are disappointed when this 
isn’t the case.  This should be outlined in the placement plan.  There is no 
minimum stated in the guidance.  Action – Paul Brightwell to take this 
back to the IRO’s as they are responsible for reviewing the 
placement plan.

 Internal audit are undertaking an audit on finances for children in care. 
There should be a draft report on this audit by late October/Early 
November and will be brought to the next meeting.  

 One of the major issues is that when children in care are given a lump 
sum of money like CICA is that this gets wasted and as responsible 
parents how can we deal with this.  If children and young people get a 
large lump sum, it can also affect their benefits which could be a reason 
why the money is spent quickly.  When CICA can’t make contact with a 

PB



young person this money gets transferred to an adult ISA but how do we 
make sure that this money gets to the young person

 Paul Brightwell raised that he wrote a report for the Children’s 
Champion’s Board and will try to locate this report.  Action – Paul to 
locate report and previous version of Kent Pledge and send to Geoff 
Gurney

 Paul Brightwell also suggested that it should be explored that the Kent 
Rewards Scheme be extended to children in care as it was to Foster 
Carers

 Members have some money that they can use as they see fit and 
Councillor Vye suggested that this may also be able to be utilised – 
Action Councillor Vye to take back to Corporate Parenting Panel

 A formal written response to be drafted to present back to the children in 
care council for their October meeting saying that in principle the 
challenge is supported and this is being looked at in terms of what can be 
provided for the next financial year

 Challenge 2 – Business Cards – Joanne Rabbitte has had discussions 
with the apprentices regarding this and so far there hasn’t been a good 
uptake on designs.  The deadline has been extended to the end of the 
half term and a prize has now been offered as an incentive.  It was also 
suggested that the concept was extended to include contact details for 
the area team, admin and Service Managers in case the Social Worker is 
unavailable and also to have a dedicated email box so there is not one 
single point of access.

 Children in care council could pick the winner of the design at the 
October meeting and a working design to be brought to the next meeting 
of this group for sign off and to agree funding, ready for use in January.  
The card should be for Children in Care teams, YPA’s and Leaving Care 
teams.  Action – Joanne Rabbitte to bring the winning design to the 
next meeting

 Challenge 3 – Siblings – This issue depends on the individual 
circumstances for the children and young people.  VSK get a number of 
requests regarding this at activity days.  If it is not possible due to 
circumstances this should be communicated to the child/young person.  
IRO’s have been involved in arranging contact with siblings and there 
needs to be consistency across the IRO’s  Action – Paul Brightwell to 
finalise a response to this challenge and follow up with IRO Team 
Managers 

 New Challenge – Social Workers need to visit more and listen more – 
new regulations from the Government state that if the child or young 
person is in a stable placement Social Workers can visit less but children 
and young people are saying they want more.  This needs to be balanced 
with realistic expectations and need to allow time for changes to be 
imbedded.  Action – GG to take back to CIC Goup for further 
discussion on response

 Feedback from challenges to go to the Children in Care council meeting 

PB

MV

JR

PB

GG



in October and to go in the Autumn newsletter – Action – Sarah Skinner 
to agree wording with Philip Segurola

SS/PS

5. Provisional Report on CIC Educational Outcomes for 2015

 The data provided in relation to this summer’s outcomes is currently 
provisional and will be internally validated at the beginning of October. 

 Kent’s children in care are in line or above National Average in every 
indicator barring Key Stage 1 level 2+ writing

 There are a large number of appeals in so this could also change the 
data as one of the exam boards raised the threshold for achieving a C 
grade during the summer.

 Children in care have narrowed the gap against all learners in KS1 level 
2+ in reading, writing and maths, in KS2 Level 4+ reading, writing and 
maths combined and at KS4 5 A*-C including English and Maths 

 Extremely proud of the young people involved and the effective work of 
Foster Carers, Social Workers and Teachers.

 There has been a pilot of a paired reading project which has achieved 
phenomenal results and has improved the average reading age of 
children involved by 15 months.  The project is being run with a second 
cohort of children in another area of Kent to see if the results can be 
replicated.  If this 2nd pilot is successful, it will need to be looked at to see 
how can this be rolled out on a wider basis

 Educational Psychology is a partially traded service and has Service 
Level Agreements in place with schools including VSK.

6. UASC  Service Update 

 Hold over to next meeting 

 360 UASC in March, 739 as at 23rd September

 There has been active dialogue with the Home Office and DfE and it is 
hoped that a dispersal scheme will be approved

 Kent has 20% of the total national UASC population

 2 additional assessment centres have been opened to cope with the 
influx

7. IRO Service Annual Report 

 Overall a positive picture

 Number of reviews chaired has increased

 If the UASC (150) are factored out there has been a net reduction of 122 
children in care

 The IRO service quality assures a large number of cases, out of 5486 
reviews 4772 were quality assured.  

 The number of reviews that a child has in a year varies, a new child into 



care will have 3 per year but if they have been in care longer they will 
have 2 per year

 There has been a decrease in the number of cases escalated and we 
need to look at the reasons for this.  Is it that the IRO’s are reflecting an 
improvement in practice or a balance of challenge and support

 One of the worst areas of performance is the implementation of the care 
plans and there needs to be a review of the correlation of implementation 
of the care plans and escalations

 There seems to be a difference in the status of the IRO service compared 
to the CP Chair service as when CP Chairs escalate issues there is a 
quicker response than when the IROs escalate 

 Over 700 Leaving Care surveys have been completed using the 
consultation booklet and the IRO Team Managers have been asked to 
work with Sarah Skinner and Geoff Gurney on developing a consultation 
booklet app

 It is disappointing that the number of exit interviews completed is low, are 
these now redundant or do they need to be revamped.  It was felt that the 
exit interviews are important and should be looked at further.  As part of 
the LILAC report exit interviews were considered important and there 
should be a consultation with young people on how to take these forward

 There is an error in the report circulated as it states that the ‘Your Voice 
Matters Survey’ is an annual event when it was a one off

8. KCPG CIC Indicator Report Quarter 1
 Maureen Robinson is unable to attend this meeting but if there are any 

comments regarding the scorecard please feed these back
 Cases reviewed within timescales are consistent.  Participation in reviews 

is down slightly
 Education indicators – exclusions are an area of concern.  Fixed term 

exclusions only get reported once a year.  Where Head Teachers are 
resistant we should be challenging Heads on their exclusion process

 Should there be an indicator that includes performance at Pupil Referral 
Units?

 Health indicators – Not doing well at Initial Health Assessments.  There 
has been some difficulty in recording dates on Liberi.  

 Dr Noreen Ahmad-Bhatti is doing an audit and asked if she could present 
this report at the next meeting.  Action – Dr Noreen Ahmad-Bhatti to 
submit report for next meeting 

 Action - Initial Health Assessments to be added to the agenda for 
LAC Health Group

 Placement Stability – drifting on 3 or more moves.  UASC are skewing 
the figures and these will be separated out across the piece.  An 
additional metric to be added to the dashboard for placement stability

 Care Leavers indicators – these are not reflective of the whole service as 
it only includes a small cohort 

 Staffing indicators – decrease in caseloads has been skewed by the 
UASC influx.  Research from Joseph Rowntree Foundation the LAC 

NA-B



numbers don’t reduce if caseloads go up and getting caseloads right is 
crucial.   Action – Discussion on caseloads to be taken to Children in 
Care group

GG

9. AOB
 None raised

10. Next Meeting 
 23rd November 2015, Billiard Room, Oakwood House 





By: Mrs J Whittle, Deputy Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Mr P Segurola, Interim Director of Specialist Children’s Services

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 23 October 2015

Subject: Verbal Updates 

Classification: Unrestricted

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:-

 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC)
 Leading Improvements for Looked After Children (LILAC)
 App-based consultation
 Family Drug and Alcohol Courts (FDAC)





By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, 
Health and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 23 October 2015

Subject:           INDEPENDENT REVIEWING OFFICER SERVICE ANNUAL
          REPORT 2014/15

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral division: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

      The Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service report for
      2014/15 is attached as Appendix 1 and provides an account of
      the performance of the Council’s IRO Service for Children in
      Care from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015.  

      The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE and
      COMMENT on the 2014/15 IRO Service Annual report and its 
      findings.

1. Introduction 

1.1 Volume 2 of the Children Act 1989 regulations and statutory guidance (IRO 
Handbook) requires that the service manager of each local authority’s 
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service produce an annual report for 
the scrutiny of elected Members and the responsible local authority’s 
corporate parenting board.  

1.2 This reports sets out the work of the IROs and their findings from 
approximately 5000 quality assurance audits of practice with looked after 
children.

1.3 The report includes both quantitative information about  performance and the 
quality of practice as well as examples of   the views of children / young 
people, carers, parents and Social Workers and their managers and other 
professionals about their views of the IRO service and Social Work practice.



2.        Recommendations

2.1 The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE and COMMENT on the
          2014/15 IRO Service Annual report and its findings.

3. Background documents
None

4. Contact details
Paul Brightwell
CIC and YP Service Manager – Canterbury/Swale
Specialist Children’s Services
Tel: 03000 416921
Email: paul.brightwell@kent.gov.uk

mailto:paul.brightwell@kent.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Independent Reviewing Officer Service 
Annual Report 2014/2015

Contents

 Section 1 – Background information
 Section 2 – IRO Workload
 Section 3 - IRO practice and performance, including findings from feedback surveys
 Section 4 – Social work practice and performance

Summary

The report provides an account of the performance of Kent County Council’s Independent 
Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service for Children in Care during the year 2014/2015 (1 April 2014 
to 31 March 2015).  

Key headlines

 IROs chaired 5486 reviews for 2014/15.
 Children in care numbers have remained steady over the year, although there remain 

fluctuations on a daily and monthly basis.
 IRO caseloads have been steadily reducing, and this needs to continue in order to 

enable IROs to be as effective as possible in their case oversight role.
 IROs completed 4772 quality assurance audits over the year out of 5486 reviews 

chaired; an 87% completion rate.
 There has been some improvement in participation of children at their reviews, 

especially in relation to the number chairing all or part of their reviews.  Further work is 
required to strengthen participation and involvement, including outside of the review.

 IRO activity data shows that there has been a 0.8% increase in the amount of time 
IROs spend seeing children between reviews.

 The proportion of review meetings chaired within statutory timescales remains high at 
99.9%.

 The IRO service receives late notification of children coming in to care in 
approximately 20% of cases.

 In 2014/15 there was a decrease in the number of formal escalations made by IROs, 
which is believed to reflect, in part, improvements in the quality of practice observed 
with looked after children. IROs during this period, concentrated on resolving issues at 
an informal level.

 The percentage of care plans that are meeting the child and young person’s needs 
continues to improve. The work underpinning the care plan is of a much higher quality, 
and is at its most successful when social workers do not always effectively translate all 
that they are doing, into a written plan. Further work is required around the 
implementation of the plan within the child and young person’s timeframe, although 
this has also improved.



 There has been a significant decrease in the proportion of Social Worker reports 
graded as Requiring Improvement since the last quarter. A key factor remains the 
timeliness of these reports being completed and provided to the IRO before the 
review.

 The majority of children and young people (95.7%) are considered to be receiving their 
Pledge commitments – although only 15% of children and young people report in the 
consultation questionnaires, that they know what the Pledge is.

 Around half of our children who respond to surveys say they are not getting a copy of 
their Care Plan. 

 In 2013/14 6% of children and young people who responded to the leaving care 
survey said they found it difficult to get the support and help they needed after leaving 
care. For 2014/15 there has been improvement with none of the children and young 
people finding it difficult to get support and help when they needed it.

 Although carers were generally confident about IRO practice and quality of service 
being provided to children and young people, they would like improvement in the 
following areas: understanding the role of IROs, having IROs contact numbers and 
being able to contact IROs in between reviews. IRO continuity for the child was seen 
as important and they would like the length of reviews to be shorter.

 Parents are generally positive about the IRO service. However, they mentioned the 
number of different IROs was not always conducive to contributing to stability in the 
child’s life. Parents would like to receive review minutes on time, have greater 
involvement in their child’s review and discuss their concerns with the IRO before the 
review meeting. They also felt effective communication by all parties with an interest in 
the child’s life could be improved. 

 Overall comments from social workers and other professionals indicate that they find 
the IRO service to be responsive and demonstrate sufficient case oversight. 
Nevertheless, for 2015/16 year, a key theme is to ensure challenge and support by the 
IRO service is more robust and formalised. 

Section 1: Background Information

The role and responsibility of IROs

Good and effective corporate parenting means the local authority and its partner agencies 
are making a positive difference for children and young people in care. In particular having 
regard for how looked after children are brought up, that the outcomes they achieve are the 
best they can be and have cognisance as to how looked after children, think and feel about 
themselves and others.

This requires IROs to make sure that care plans reflect each child and young person’s needs 
and that the actions required to achieve the plan are identified and implemented effectively – 
in the child and young person’s timescales.

The way in which IROs are expected to undertake their tasks is set out in the  Department for 
Education’s IRO Handbook, which forms part of the regulations and statutory guidance set 
out in Volume 2 of the Children Act 1989 – Care Planning, Placement and Case Review. 
Since April 2011, IROs are expected to oversee the quality of practice with respect to the 
whole child’s case, including in-between review meetings.



The statutory duties of the IRO are set out under section 25B [1] of the Children Act 1989.  
These are: 

 Monitor the performance by the local authority of their functions in relation to the 
child’s case.

 Participate (usually as chair) in any reviews of the child’s case.
 Ensure that any ascertained wishes and feelings of the child concerning the case are 

given due consideration by the appropriate authority.  IROs are expected to arrange to 
have contact with children in care before the day of their review meetings.

IROs have the power to:

 Adjourn reviews (regulation 36 (2)) if they are satisfied that the local authority has not 
complied adequately with all the requirements relating to the review (such as 
consulting the child/young person, parents etc).

 Freeze decisions until a child in care’s review has been held that involve any 
unplanned change to the child’s accommodation that would impact on their education 
(especially at key stage 4), changes of placement where the child has been settled 
and established for some time, and changing their legal status before the age of 18. .

 Raise concerns through the local authority’s formal dispute resolution process, which 
should have a timescale of no more than 20 days.

 Refer cases to the Children and Families Court Advisory Service’s CAFCASS 
(regulation 45), including the use of a concurrent referral at the same time that they 
instigate a formal dispute resolution.

The IRO role is independent by its very nature and the IRO service has a key role to play in 
helping to reduce overall numbers of children in care. This is achieved through ensuring that 
care plans are both cogent and implemented in a timely way to prevent children drifting in the 
care system. The IRO is expected to provide robust challenge and support to the Local 
Authority. 

About Kent County Council’s IRO service

The IRO service is part of Kent County Council’s Social Care, Health and Wellbeing 
Directorate’s Specialist Children’s Services Division; sitting within the Children’s 
Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Unit. The role of the County IRO Manager is 
undertaken by the Head of Quality Assurance.

There are two IRO teams:
 The East and South Kent Area team (one Team Manager and 15 IROs)
 The North and West Kent Area team and unaccompanied Asylum seeker team 

(one Team Manager and 13 IROs)

The IRO function for Looked After Children is separate from the chairing of Child Protection 
Conferences, which is undertaken by the other arm of this reviewing service. KCC employ 
14 CP chairs, which are incorporated into one county team, managed by a CP chairs Team 
Manager. Together the two IRO teams and CP chairs team form one county service. A 
separate annual report, setting out the work of the CP chairs and the findings from their 
quality assurance auditing and oversight is produced, complemented with quarterly quality 
assurance reports throughout the year.



During 2014-2015 the capacity of the IRO service was increased from 21.1 full-time IRO 
posts to 24.8 full time posts. A further increase of full time or equivalent IRO posts was 
agreed in 2015 in order to reduce further IRO caseloads and enable IROs to undertake a 
more robust level of case oversight and see children and young people between reviews 
more often. For the 2015/16 year there will be 29 full time or equivalent IROs with an average 
caseload of 70.

Training and development

All IROs receive regular supervision from their IRO team manager every four weeks, through 
individual and group supervision. Team meetings take place every two months, alternated 
with two monthly IRO practice meetings.

The IRO Team Managers undertake one case file audit of each IRO every two months.
The findings from these case file audits are used to provide feedback to the IRO during their 
line management supervision. This approach has been in place since April 2013 and reflects 
good practice highlighted by Ofsted in their June 2013 report evaluating IRO services in 
England.

County meetings are held every six months and an annual away day enables the service to 
look at key areas of development for improving its practice and delivery of the service. The 
away day which took place on 19 November 2014 focused on three areas: 1) improving the 
way in which social work practice is quality assured, 2) the role of the IRO in challenging and 
supporting social work practice and 3) promoting children and young people’s participation. 
At the away day on 13 October 2015 the focus was on strengthening the way in which IROs 
challenge and support Social Workers and their managers to improve practice and promote 
better outcomes for children and young people. 

A bespoke training program is prepared annually in consultation with IROs.  For 2014/15, this 
includes specific training on improving IROs ability to combine the use of challenge and 
support in order to promote better practice and positive outcomes for our children and young 
people. A legal update workshop was held and a detailed program for the year developed at 
the IRO away day in November 2014.

Section 2: IRO workload

The number of children and young people in care

At 31 March 2015 there were 1870 children and young people in the care of Kent County 
Council. This represents a rise of 28 when compared with the number of children and young 
people in care at the end of March 2014 (1842).

A key reason for this rise in Looked After Children numbers has been an increase in the 
number of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) coming in to the care of Kent 
County Council; a rise of 150 UASC over the year.  Excluding UASC,  Kent County Council’s 
looked after children population reduced by 122 over 2014/15; from 1624 to 1502 children. 
 



A breakdown of the number of children and young people in care by Area/Service as at 
31 March 2015 is presented in the chart below: 

From May 2014 a new initiative was implemented by the IRO service in order to help identify 
and reduce drift in the care system. IROs regularly monitor the average time in care for all 
children and young people where the plan is a reunification home or adoption. This 
performance monitoring was undertaken to help IROs ensure that there is a robust focus on 
reducing drift in care, so that wherever possible and appropriate, children can achieve 
permanence outside of the care system as quickly as possible.

The findings from this performance monitoring will be reflected in future quarterly reports and 
the annual IRO report.

IRO caseloads

A key focus has been on how to improve the level of recruitment of IROs with relevant team 
manager experience, which is a key attribute outlined in the statutory guidance within Volume 
2 of the Children Act 1989 (IRO Handbook). As previously mentioned the number IROs has 
increased and it is anticipated for 2015/16 the number of IROs will be 29. This is part of an 
overall strategy to ensure that IRO caseloads are in line with the statutory guidance of no 
more than 70 looked after children, per fte IRO.



IRO caseloads were at 76.3 per FTE IRO by 31 March 2014. This represents a decrease of 
10.3 cases per fte IRO when compared with the Q4 period of 2013/14.

The number of reviews chaired

A total of 5486 reviews were chaired by IROs during 2014/15; an increase of 266 when 
compared with the total number of reviews chaired in the previous year.

1461 reviews were chaired during the Q4 period (January 2015 to March 2015), which 
represents an increase of 210 when compared with the Q4 period of 2013/14 (1251).

 S
e
c
t
i
o
n
 
1
 
–
 
B
a
c
k
g
r
o
u
n
d
 
i
n
f
o
r
m
a
t
i
o
n

 S
e
c
t
i
o
n
 
2
 
–
 
I
R
O
 
W
o
r
k
l
o
a
d

 S
e
c
t
i
o
n
 
3
 
-
 
I
R
O
 
p
r
a
c
t
i
c
e
 
a
n
d
 
p
e
r
f
o
r
m
a
n
c
e
,
 
i
n
c
l
u
d
i
n
g
 
f
i
n
d
i
n
g
s
 
f
r
o
m
 
f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 
s
u
r
v
e
y
s

 S
e
c
t
i
o
n
 
4
 
–
 
S
o
c
i
a
l
 
w
o
r
k
 
p
r
a
c
t
i
c
e
 
a
n
d
 
p
e
r
f
o
r
m
a
n
c
e



IRO Activity

In May 2015 IROs participated in a one week audit of their activity in order to establish how 
much time was spent on different tasks. 

Preparation, 
chairing and 
following up 
from reviews, 
Case Oversight

Meeting 
children/young 
people outside 
of review 
meetings

Travel time to 
reviews and 
other 
meetings

Typing 
reviews, ICS 
input, Admin

QA, Issues 
resolution, 
Case Audits

Meetings and 
supervision

Total Number of 
'Activity' 
sheets 
received

Feb 2012 41.4% 3.9% 16.1% 30.7% 1.5% 6.3% 100.0% 15
Feb 2013 39.8% 2.9% 15.5% 31.5% 8.3% 2.0% 100.0% 22
June 2014 33.8% 2.9% 15.3% 35.3% 8.0% 4.7% 100.0% 11
May 2015 36.3% 3.7% 17.5% 32.2% 8.0% 2.3% 100.0% 15
Average 37.8% 3.3% 16.1% 32.4% 6.5% 3.8% 100.0% 16

When compared with previous years, there has been some change in the amount of time that 
IROs spend on activities in relation to four areas:

Compared to last year:

 Seeing children between review meetings and IRO visit has increased by 0.8% 
 Travelling time has increased by 2.2%
 Preparation, chairing and following up from reviews, case oversight has increased by 

2.5% 
 Inputting reviews and administration has reduced by 3.1%

i) As mentioned a decision has been made to increase IRO capacity from 24.8 to 29. 
This will reduce average caseloads from 87 to 70 based on current Looked After 
Children numbers. The time freed up from having smaller caseloads will be 
prioritised by IROs to see children between review meetings more often.

ii) We have streamlined the way in which IRO quality assure and audit by introducing 
an online feedback audit form. 

iii) To reduce travel time, IRO admin try to book reviews to IROs in close proximity 
from one review to the other as much as possible. 



Section 3: IRO practice and performance, including findings from 
feedback surveys

The % of reviews chaired by the IRO service

The IRO service chaired 99.8% of all reviews chaired during the Q4 period; a decrease in 
performance of 0.2% when compared with the Q3 period, and increase of 0.2% when 
compared with Q2 period (99.6%) and decrease 0.1% when compared with the Q4 period of 
2013/14 (99.9%).

Performance for the whole year is at 99.6%, which reflects an increase of 0.1% when 
compared with 2013/14.

Participation of child/young person at Statutory Review

The IRO service and the operational social work teams have joint responsibility and 
accountability for this area of practice.
2014-2015 average (for the 4 quarters) participation: 96.3%
2013-2014 average (for the 4 quarters) participation: 96.7%
So it is a slight decrease of 0.4% compared to last year average

During the Q4 period, 4.1% of children and young people (excluding children under the age 
of four) did not participate in their review (95.9% participated at some level). This represents 
a slight decrease (0.6%) when compared with the Q3 period (95.3%) and a slight increase of 
0.3% when compared with the Q4 period of 2013/14 (96%).

While these findings reflect a generally improving picture with respect to participation and 
involvement of children in care at their reviews, further work is needed to enable increase 
performance. There is an expectation that all children and young people in care who are over 
four years of age should be participating at some level in their reviews. Participation is 
important and is a focus outside of the review as part of everyday practice. IROs should be 
using their oversight to ensure that children’s views are recorded in their own words on 
assessments and plans and that information about how to complain and access advocacy 
services is provided as a matter of course at every child in care review meeting. Children and 
young people express a view that there should be “no plan about me, without me” – the IRO 
service is committed to ensuring participation rates increase.



Children and young people chairing their own review meetings

There has been an increase in performance with respect to the number of children and young 
people chairing all or part of their reviews over the whole year.  During the Q4 period, 117 
children and young people were enabled to chair part of their reviews, with a further 12 young 
people chairing the whole review meting (129 in total).  This compared with 92 in the Q3 
period.

Children and young people’s views of their IROs

The IRO Service conducts a number of different surveys to ascertain children and young 
people’s views of the services that they receive.  This includes exit interviews, which are 
available to all children and young people aged eight years plus who want to provide 
feedback on the services they receive at the point they leave care.  The IRO service also 
collects information from consultation questionnaires that are completed by children and 
young people to help them prepare for their review meetings. 

During 2014/15, the IRO service received a total of 792 responses to the various surveys / 
interviews that are available for children to provide feedback:

 770 responses via the review consultation booklet
 22 leaving care interviews

The ‘Your Voice Matters Survey’ has run annually since 2014 via Our Children and Young 
People’s Council (OCYPC) and was responded to by 326 young people. This provides 
additional information about children’s views of their IROs.  

Children and young people have requested fewer surveys and for this reason the IRO 
Service will be stepping down its use of the online survey and concentrate on the use of the 
consultation booklet (whose primary purpose is to help children prepare for their review 
meetings) and the leaving care interviews. It is felt these provide a unique perspective on 
children’s views when compared to the other surveys being used across the local authority.  



A summary of the findings from the surveys and focus groups are presented below:

Leaving care surveys

22 children and young people responded to a leaving care survey during 2014/15, which 
represents around 4% of the children who left care during the year aged from six to 18 years 
of age.

Positive feedback from young people included:

“they supported me in tough times. (GCSEs)”

“They were supportive and helpful”

“Understanding of circumstances. Availability. Helps with information and Support.”

“Understanding of circumstances. Availability. Helps with information and Support.”

“to live within family and the support they give”

“Offered support in stressful / difficult times” 

“They helped me choose right decisions in life”

“They always supported me and meet my needs. I would like to say thank you for thing 
and give me a new family.”

About carers and Others: “ Supported me. Helped me find jobs. Treated me like their 
own. Would cheer me up if down”

About SW assistant “She used to take me out & chat with me”

Critical feedback by children:

“I believe that Social Workers are the most important as they support you. So when they 
change its not helpful.”

“It’s been extremely difficult and up and down everywhere but im settling down now in 
new placements hopefully”

Feedback from Review Consultation Booklets

During 2014/15 764 children completed a consultation booklet as part of preparing for their 
review meeting.  This represents around 18% of the reviews that took place for children aged 



eight years plus.  The number of children using consultation leaflets has increased over the 
year. In the Q4 period  2013/2014 it was 253. It is expected that an increase in the use of the 
consultation leaflet by children and young people will continue to rise over 2015/16.  

Feedback from foster carers

17 foster carers returned the hard copy survey during 2014/15.

Positive comments made by carers:

“Service of the IRO is very professional in every way.”

“All matters are discussed at the LAC review. Thank you.”

“The IRO 'IW' is excellent but other I have worked with can be focus to what they think 
and not take into account others opinions.”

“Had the same IRO for many years – She is extremely professional and experienced at 
her job.”

Critical comments from carers:

“Issues heavily weighted in the parents favour and not the child’s. Have had another 
LAC still no minutes.”

Feedback from Parents
 
The total number of parental survey feedback was 9.

Positive comments from parents:

“It seems we now have a social worker that might stay with us for the long term”

“That we was asked about the day to day care of  MK and things of relevance to his 
future”

Critical comments from parents:

“Cramped, Hot, No ventilation, weren't allowed to windows. Nothing for children to 
play with.”

“Organise where review is to take place. Let everyone know where when how what etc”

“That it took too long for a meeting to take place”

“don't get told anything”

“to be updated by social worker regularly”



“Our son has had 4 different IRO in the last 12 months. This is unsatisfactory.
In addition, our parental views are ignored about date & time of our son's LAC review. 
Therefore, we feel we are being excluded.”

“People not listening to our points of view”
“our view being heard”

Section 4: Social work performance and practice

Late notifications of reviews

A late notification is defined as two or more working days after the child has come in to care. 
A delay in the IRO service being notified promptly delays an IRO being appointed and makes 
it harder to ensure that the initial review takes place on time.

The IRO service received around 137 late notifications from operational social work teams 
during 2014/15. 

Change of Review dates

Much work has been done to prevent a change of review date however, they were too many 
changes of review for 2014/15 period. 

Reasons for change of dates:

IRO
•             Off sick, on leave, on training
•             Change of IRO - new IRO already booked

Social worker - Operational team
•             SW in Court 
•             SW off sick, on leave, on training - and supervisor can't attend either
•             SW double Booked
•             New SW was not informed
•             Adjourned review due to lack of paper work
•             No Review arranged, nobody turned up

Other (Foster Carers, Family, School, Doctor etc...)
•             School unable to attend, change of school
•             Advocate unable to attend
•             Family unable to attend 
•             Foster Carers attending court or for other reasons can't attend
•             Young Person (YP) can’t attend
•             Interpreter didn’t turn up
•             Issues with child/YP behaviour



Change of Placement/Care Plan
•             Case in court
•             Change of placement, Placement disruption
•             Change in Care Plan
•             First adoption review
•             Time to settle in with adopters

For the 2015/16 period no review can be changed without the express permission of an 
Assistant Director. It is anticipated changes in reviews will be reduced to a minimum.

Child focused practice

“Has the Care Plan been shared with the child/young person and are their views 
recorded?”

For those applicable, County total, Yes answers, Percentage is out of total cases reported on
Q4: 86.1%, Q3: 84.8%, Q2: 85.2%, Q1: 84%, 

“Has there been any change of Social Worker since the last Review?” 

County total, Yes answers, Percentage is out of total cases reported on
Q4: 36.2%, Q3: 25.2%, Q2: 29.3%, Q1: 13%

Escalations / IRO challenges

Over 2014/15, 527 practice challenges were made by IROs, which represents 9.6% of the 
looked after children’s cases that were reviewed.  

Of the 527 cases that were subject to a formal IRO challenge, 365 (69.3%) were addressed 
at Team Manager level, 108 (20.5%) were escalated and resolved at Service Manager level, 
and 43 cases (8.2%) went to Assistant Director level before being resolved. Nine cases were 
raised to the Director for Specialist Children’s Service for resolution.

The single main focus of IRO disputes was on the Pre-meeting report, accounting for 34.7% 
of all disputes issued.

There does remain some variation between operational Areas and Services in the number of 
escalations, which is shown in the table below: 



Quality of practice

The IRO service has shifted the majority of its quality assurance focus from process driven 
activities onto the quality of social work practice and activities, which are more closely 
associated with positive outcomes for children and young people in care.

At the present time, this focuses heavily on care planning, including the core activities that 
underpin a good plan and its implementation, the quality of the social work report for the 
statutory review, and the delivery of Kent’s Pledge to our children and young people in care.

Care Plans

Of the 1434 QA audits undertaken by IROs during the Q4 period, 1342 were deemed to be of 
a sufficient standard or better (93.6%), while 92 (6.4%) were considered inadequate.  

This finding confirms an ongoing improvement in performance in care planning which has 
been evident over the last year and a half.  

Care Plans on Liberi 
Requiring improvement to good or better:

Q4: 93.6%, 
Q3: 90.1%, 
Q2: 88.9%, 
Q1: 86%, 
in 2013/14 Q4: 80.8%

Performance is higher when evaluating the activity that goes on in order to form a care plan.  
This activity is based around 13 core components that make up a good plan that are 
individually graded by IROs after each review. The quality of implementation of the care plan 
has also improved, from 83% in Q1 to 94.4% in Q4.

The discrepancy between performance in relation to the care plan grading and the grading of 
the core components that make a good plan, highlight that further work is needed to help 



Social Workers produce clear and cogent plans which do full justice to the good work they 
are undertaking. 

A summary of the findings in relation to the core elements that make up a good plan is 
presented below: 

Requiring improvement to good or better.

Achieving permanence for the child 
Q4: 95.8%
Q3: 91.8%
Q2: 94.9%
Q1: 92.4%
2012/13: Q4: 91.8%

Promoting placement stability 
Q4: 96.6%
Q3: 94.6%
Q2: 94.9%
Q1: 92.7%
2012/13: Q4: 94.3%

Keeping children safe 
Q4: 97.8%
Q3: 96.5%
Q2: 97.3%
Q1: 95%
2012/13: Q4: 95.7%

Promotion of health needs 
Q4: 95%
Q3: 96.2%
Q2: 95.6%
Q1: 92.9%
2012/13: Q4: 94.4%

Promotion of educational needs 
Q4: 92.8%
Q3: 94.9%
Q2: 93.7%
Q1: 89.3%
2012/13: Q4: 87.9%

Promotion of personal interest and activities 
Q4: 97.9%
Q3: 97.7%
Q2: 94.8%
Q1: 94.4%
2012/13: Q4: 95.2%



The participation of the child/young person in developing their plan 
Q4: 98.3%
Q3: 97.7%
Q2: 97.2%
Q1: 94.8%
2012/13: Q4: 94.2%

Relationships with family and friends, carers, SWs, IROs 
Q4: 98.1%
Q3: 98.2%
Q2: 97.7%
Q1: 97.2%
2012/13: Q4: 97%

Contact 
Q4: 97.6%
Q3: 96.2%
Q2: 94%
Q1: 91.9%
2012/13: Q4: 91.2%

Statutory visits 
Q4: 93%
Q3: 91.7%
Q2: 89%
Q1: 86.2%
2012/13: Q4: 82.8%

Direct social work 
Q4: 94.4%
Q3: 95.1%
Q2: 95.4%
Q1: 92%
2012/13: Q4: 90.3%

Transition planning 
Q4: 95.7%
Q3: 94.9%
Q2: 96.2%
Q1: 94.7%
2012/13: Q4: 94.2%

Contingency plan  
Q4: 92.1%
Q3: 88.6%
Q2: 84.5%
Q1: 76.6% (June)
(grading commenced in June 2014)



Care Plan implementation 

“Is the Care Plan/PWP being implemented within the child/young person's time 
frame?”

The majority of time the care plan is judged to be implemented within a child or young 
person’s timeframe.

Q4: 85.3%
Q3: 82.5%
Q2: 83.4%
Q1: 86.9%
2012/13: Q4: 84.9%

The Social Worker’s report for the review 

During Q4, the IRO service quality assured 1416 cases with respect to looking at the quality 
of the Social Worker’s report for the review.  Of these 1148 (81.4%) were considered 
Requiring improvement to good or better. 

Q4: 91.4%
Q3: 79.9%
Q2: 79.7%
Q1: 77.9%
2012/13: Q4: 69.3%

“Was the Pre-meeting report available to the IRO at least three working days prior the 
review?” 

This is judged to be positive.
Q4: 64%
Q3: 60.1%
Q2: 61.8%
(N.B. grading commenced in July 2014)

C&F Assessment 
“Is the Care Plan based on a robust, comprehensive C&F assessment which clearly 
identifies the needs of the child/young person?”

There has been a slight negative movement however, percentages are still high.
Q4: 79.6%
Q3: 80.1%
Q2: 84.2%
Q1: 84.5%



Kent’s Pledge  

The delivery of Kent’s Pledge to our children in care was quality assured by IROs in 1305 
cases during the Q4 period. Of these, 1252 (95.9%) were deemed Requiring improvement to 
good or better in terms of how the Pledge was being delivered to the children and young 
people concerned.

Q4: 95.9%
Q3: 95.3%
Q2: 96.5%
Q1: 95.2%
2012/13: 95.8%

Additional consultation with IROs have also raised the following issues regarding practice 
with looked after children.

Areas identified as being ‘Good’

 The local authority is pro-active in seeking Legal Orders for children in line with their 
wishes and feelings. 

 There is Good liaison and joint working between Children in Care Social Workers and 
Fostering Social Workers to address placement issues. 

 There is an overall reduction in delay and drift. 

 Clearer efforts are being made to family find for children with a plan for adoption - very 
good early identification for babies, often matching at approval or with existing sibling 
adopters. Improvements noted in identifying adopters for older children with complex 
needs. Good use of a timely approach to whether adoption continues to be a feasible 
plan or needs to be changed to long term fostering.

 Virtual School Kent (VSK) – Generally VSK is doing a very good job, with timely 
intervention and effective support. 

 Newly Qualified Social Workers (NQSWs)– IROs have been impressed by the 
quality of newly qualified Social Workers.  NQSWs are able to work with complex 
families and quickly understanding the needs of the children and young people and 
address matters promptly.

 Direct work – IROs have noted increased examples of good direct work with children 
and young people across the county. 

 Increasingly seeing more creative use of visiting time – IROs report social workers 
are taking children out and really getting to know them. Social workers are getting 
involved with activities that the child enjoys away from the placement. 

 Children’s Participation – Even though this remains any area for development more 
evidence seen re proactive work to encourage children’s participation. A West Kent 



Area workshop was well attended and IROs are seeing greater emphasis that the 
children in care review is the child’s meeting.

 Information sharing – particularly where a parent has learning difficulties or mental 
health issues.

Areas for Improvement

 Pre-Meeting report – Some Social Workers are still not producing Pre-Meeting 
reports before Reviews. 

 CAMHS service - Continues to be an issue with looked after children not always 
receiving an appropriate service. 

 Inconsistent updating of care plans - Following reviews
 Distribution of review minutes – IROs note that a significant number of reviews 

have not had previous minutes circulated at all.  
 Consultation Leaflets are often not sent to children to help them prepare for their 

reviews
 Communication with parents and communication with foster carers – More 

evidence is needed regarding involving and keeping parents informed. 
 Evidencing Life Story work – This has been an improving picture with some 

accounts of really good work but it is not always evidenced and not always timely.  Life 
story books are still varied in standard and quality. 

 Varied use and level of support and use of interpreters primarily for UASC. 

Conclusion

This Annual Report outlines an improved picture by the IRO service however, there is a 
definite need to build on this success and continue to improve. To that end the IRO service 
has identified several key actions for 2015/16 which are outlined below:

Actions for 2015/16

 The IRO service will have reduced caseloads, with each IRO having an average 
caseload of 70.

 The number of IROs for 2015/16 will be 29fte.
 The IRO post has been upgraded from a KR11 to KR12, in line with national 

expectations.
 IROs will meet with children and young people in-between reviews to seek their views.
 There will be an increase in children and young people’s participation.
 IROs will track and audit cases in between reviews and work with operational teams to 

ensure children and young people are receiving a quality service.
 IROs will ensure robust challenge and support and will escalate in a formal and robust 

manner, as is appropriate.



              = Improving performance                 = Good performance
            

              = Unchanged performance               = Improvement required

          = Decrease in performance              = Performance is less than good

       = No optimum performance defined



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel - 23 October 2015

Subject:         HEAD TEACHER OF VIRTUAL SCHOOL KENT (VSK)   
        ANNUAL REPORT 2014-2015

Classification:          Unrestricted       

Electoral division:                      All

Summary:

Recommendation:

        This report provides Members with an overview of the impact  
        and  priorities for the Virtual School Head Teacher 

        Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
        the progress made.

1. Panel Summary

1.1 2014-15 academic year has been an extremely successful one for our students. 
This year has seen the best combined outcomes for Kent Children in Care (CiC) 
in all age categories from ages 6 to 16. All key indicators including Reading, 
Writing and Mathematics including 5A*-C grades at GCSE inclusive of English 
and Mathematics are at least in line with the latest National Average for CiC. 
These positive results have also been matched with regards to health outcomes 
with both Review Health Assessments (RHA) and Dental Checks being in line 
with or above the National Average for CiC.

1.2 VSK has significantly developed its participation and engagement work stream 
this academic year. This year has seen the development of the Young Adults 
Council (YAC), the strengthening of the Our Children and Young People’s 
Council (OCYPC) with local councils being piloted across the county. We have 
increased the number of activity days that we host from 14 in 2013- 14 to 17 in 
2014-2015, this, as would be expected, has increased the number of our young 
people who have attended these important days. The feedback from our 
young people on the activity days remains extremely positive. Our young 
people have reviewed and developed a range of information for CiC and have 
made this more reader friendly.  This information can all be accessed via the 
Kent Cares Town website. Other significant developments have included the 
introduction of the Challenge Cards (a system where our young people can 
challenge their Corporate Parents and responsible officers) and these are 
discussed at the Kent Corporate Parenting Group (KCPG) and the Corporate 
Parenting Panel (CPP). The responses are formalised and fed back to our 
young people. Ensuring our young people play a part in recruitment and 
training has also been a priority this year with the development of the 



Recruitment Crew and the development of a series of training events 
created with our young people.

2. Introduction 

2.1 Further to the verbal report received by the Corporate Parenting Panel on  
3 September 2015, this report provides an overview of the progress made during 
academic year 2014-15 and sets the priorities and next steps for the service 
during  academic year 2015-16. 

3. Outcomes 2014-15

3.1 The DfE publish their statistical first release in relation to outcomes for Looked 
After Children (LAC) in December each year and therefore, at the time of writing 
this report the only validated information available regarding children who have 
been in care for 12 months or more is that relating to 2013-14. Key stage 1 and 
2 data in this report has been internally validated from the summer DfE data 
drop, with the Key Stage 4 data drop anticipated on 14 October.

3.2 Key Stage 1 Outcomes

2014-15 has been a successful year for our 41 young people at Key Stage 1. All 
three indicators have seen an  achievement improvement of between 1 and 3% 
on 2013-14, with mathematics 1% above the latest national average for CiC, 
reading at the national average and writing considered broadly in line (one 
additional student would have made Kent CiC above the national average). 
Positively Kent CiC has narrowed the gap with all Kent learners by 7% in 
reading, 12% in mathematics and 15% in writing.

3.3 Key Stage 2 Outcomes

2014-15 has been a successful year for our 77 young people at Key Stage 2. All 
four indicators have seen an achievement improvement of between 3 and 8.6% 
on 2013-14, with all indicators being between 2.8 and 4.6% above the latest 
national average for CiC. Positively Kent CiC has narrowed the gap with all 
Kent learners by 7.2% in reading, writing and mathematics combined.

Indicator 2014 Actual 2015 Actual Latest NA and Target
Direction of Travel 

(2014 vs. 2015)
2015 all 
learners

All Learners 
direction from 

2014

CiC v All 
Learners Gap 

narrowed

KS1 % Level 2+ Reading 70% 71.00% 71% ↑1% 84 90 ↓6% 7%

KS1 % Level 2+ Writing 56% 59.00% 61% ↑3% 74 86 ↓12% 15%

KS1 % Level 2+ Maths 70% 73.00% 72% ↑3% 84 93 ↓9% 12%

Indicator 2014 Actual 2015 Actual Latest NA and Target
Direction of Travel 

(2014 vs. 2015)
2015 all 
learners

All Learners 
direction from 

2014

CiC v All 
Learners Gap 

narrowed

KS2 % Level 4+ Reading 65% 71.10% 68% ↑6.1% 89

KS2 % Level 4+ Writing 58% 61.80% 59% ↑3% 86

KS2 % Level 4+ Maths 57% 64.50% 61% ↑7.5% 86

KS2 % Level 4+ Reading, Writing & Maths 44% 52.60% 48% ↑8.6% 80.2 79 ↑1.4 7.20%



2014-15 has been a successful year for our 138 young people at Key Stage 4. 
2013-14 saw the introduction of the first entry only methodology which led to 
only 8% of our young people achieving 5A*-C inclusive of english and 
mathematics. This summer we have seen a 4.3% improvement on the previous 
years outcome placing us in line with the latest national average for CiC. Kent 
CiC have also narrowed the achievement gap with all Kent learners by 4.9%.

3.4 5Yr Attendance And Exclusion Trend Breakdown

Ac. Year ‘09/10 ‘10/11 ‘11/12 ‘12/13 ‘13/14 ‘14/15

Performance
Assessment
Framework CF/C24
25+days Absence
* Indicator changed to 
Persistent Absence 
(PA) from 2011/12

16.3% 12% *10.5% *9.5% *9.5% *9.5

% Permanent
Exclusion
(PEx)

1% 0.9% 0.54% 0.39% 0.39% 0.36%

2014-15 was another positive year for our young people in terms of attendance 
and permanent exclusions levels. These two indicators have remained stable 
over the past two years. It is important to note however that since the 
development of the Virtual School persistent absenteeism has reduced by 42% 
and Permanent Exclusion has reduced by 64%.

3.5 Health 2014-15

   A specified member of staff within VSK who has experience of social 
care and policy and performance takes a lead role for SCS in terms of 
developing multi-agency policies and works closely with colleagues to 
ensure these impact positively on practice and outcomes for children 
and young people. 

   This role entails the monitoring of health and dental assessment 
performance but also intervention when necessary with social care 
managers, social workers, NHS commissioners, provider managers and 
clinicians for individual children to prevent delays in children and young 
people receiving timely health assessments.

 This role is also responsible for the process surrounding Strengths and 
Difficultly Questionnaires (SDQs) and for disseminating the findings of 
these to SCS Senior Managers and health colleagues.

Indicator 2014 Actual 2015 Actual Latest NA and Target
Direction of Travel 

(2014 vs. 2015)
2015 all 
learners

All Learners 
direction from 

2014

CiC v All 
Learners Gap 

narrowed

KS4 % 5+ A*-C inc. English & Maths (best result) 8% (13%) TBC 12.3% 12% ↑4% 57.4 58 ↓0.6% 4.60%



 The responsible member of staff within VSK sits on various operational 
steering groups which focus on health outcomes for children and young 
people in care and care leavers.

 The LAC nursing team continue to sit within the two locality bases of 
VSK (Brook House and Worrall House) and is an integral part of the 
multi-agency service. The team has been actively recruiting and has 
expanded during recent months in order to meet the demands placed on 
the service. 

3.6 An example of effective multi-agency working during 2014-15 

The use of a Moods and Feelings Questionnaire (MFQ) has been introduced in 
response to a gap in identifying the emotional and mental health needs of 
children and young people entering care.

 The Initial Health Assessment is a holistic assessment of a child’s physical and 
emotional health on coming into care. The latest Statutory Guidance 2015 
recommends that all health assessments should focus on emotional and mental 
well-being as well as physical health.  Assessing a child’s mental health can be 
difficult and subjective and the child may not yet feel comfortable enough to talk 
about how they are feeling.  To date there has not been a formal assessment 
tool used to assess a child’s emotional well-being at the Initial Health 
Assessment but the SDQ has been used to inform Review Health Assessments 
as per the Department for Education’s SSDA903 data collection.

The Short MFQ is a well validated, simple to use tool for screening in community 
settings. This tool is felt to be more appropriate for use at the Initial Health 
Assessment rather than the SDQ due to its simplicity and clear ability to capture 
the voice of the child. The MFQ is free to download, easy to administer (five 
minutes or less) and can be easily scored on the spot by the clinician. 

A pilot study which commenced in July and is likely to last six or seven months is 
currently taking place in two parts of the County for 50 children between the age 
of 8 and 16 when having an Initial Health Assessment.  There are exclusion 
criteria for the pilot:

 Any child already open to Children and Young People’s Services 
CHYPS/CAMHS (in view of the fact that mental health needs have 
already been identified)

 Children and young people for whom English is not their first language (a 
more specific tool/assessment will be required because the MFQ is not 
validated in this group)

A multi–agency working group will study the findings of the pilot once the target 
number has been achieved and these will be shared across both NHS and SCS 
and a recommendation will be made to Senior Officers regarding wider use of 
this tool.



3.7 4Yr Dental and Health Assessment Trend Breakdown

The DfE publish their statistical first release in relation to outcomes for LAC 
in December each year, therefore, at the time of writing this report the only 
validated information available regarding children who have been in  care for 12 
months or more relates to 2013-14, and as such all other data is unvalidated. 

VSK has seen three year on year improvements in both Dental and Review 
Health Assessments. This year has evidenced a 16% improvement in dental 
checks over the past four years and a 15% improvement in our young people’s 
review health assessments over the same period. Based on latest validated 
national averages both our Dental and Review Health Assessments are above  
the national average.

4. Participation and Engagement 2014-15

4.1 Attached as Appendix 1 is the VSK Participation Team Annual Report for 2014-
15.  This gives further detail on the work of the Participation Team and 
identifies the regional and national initiatives with which VSK is involved to 
ensure that Kent’s children and young people in care and care leavers have a 
‘voice’.

4.2 The Participation and Engagement team sits within the VSK and is led by the 
Service Business Manager.  The Team is made up of seven apprentices whose 
apprenticeships and work streams are supported by VSK’s Business Support 
Officer and Participation and Engagement Support Officer.

5. Looked After Children Pupil Premium Grant (PP+)

 5.1 Context

The DfE made significant changes to the criteria and deployment of the CiC 
element of the Pupil Premium (PP) grant for 2014 - 15 financial year. These 
changes were researched and developed by the DfE through a pilot with West 
Sussex and their Virtual School.  Following this pilot the DfE produced two 
key documents announcing significant national changes in the arrangements 
for Pupil Premium for CiC for financial year 2014/15. These two documents can 
be found on the VSK website at: http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk

http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/


Pupil Premium Grant 2014 to 2015 Conditions of Grant 
           February 2014)

Pupil Premium and the role of the Virtual School 
Headteacher 2014-15 - Frequently Asked Questions (March 
2014)

Key changes included, the formulae amount per CiC which was raised to £1900; 
the length of time in care eligibility criteria reduced from six months to first day in 
care and the deployment model which became ring fenced to a set criteria 
deployed through the Virtual School and its Head Teacher.

5.2 Financial allocation of PP+ per locality

Geographical dispersal of Kent CIC sees East Kent with 41.6% of eligible CiC; 
South Kent with 24.3%; West Kent with11%; North Kent with 13.7% and the 
remainder placed outside of Kent.

Figure 1

Figure 1 highlights the PP+ spend in each locality area. 2014-15 PP+ spend was 
roughly in line with population distribution with the exception of Thanet which 
accounts for 19% of cohort and 25% of grant deployment. This again links with  
the PP+ policy around the Child Needs Model and the number of more 
complex CiC placed in East Kent due to location of specialist care settings.

In addition to the direct payments and initiatives in the localities VSK directly 
commissioned activities which included literacy development programmes such 
as Beanstalk and Paired Reading.



There have been a myriad of interventions and support programmes generated 
for our CiC across the county. 23% of the grant in localities has been spent on 
1:1 tuition; a further 19% utilised on targeted individual support; 36% focused on 
group or school based approaches and 18% on collaborative approaches across 
schools. Good practice examples were shared at the last Corporate Parenting 
Panel on 3 September 2015.

6. Priorities for 2015-16

6.1 These currently are:

 Meeting the latest requirements set down in July 2014 Statutory Guidance 
document “Promoting the educational achievement of looked after 
children – Statutory guidance for local authorities”. This includes mapping 
our young people’s educational progress termly (rather than bi-annually 
through PEP Review) and the age extension of Personal Education 
Planning from Pre-school to 18 years of age (previous PEPs were for 
Year R to Year 11 ages 4-16).

 Continuing drive on improving academic and health outcomes. Particular 
focus on KS4 which is where the biggest gap exists. Preparing for the 
future assessment changes happening in 2017 around Achievement and 
Progress 8 (Progress 8 aims to capture the progress a pupil makes from 
the end of primary school to the end of secondary school).

 Focus on developing the quality of PEPs (utilising the PP+ conditions of 
grant as a lever).

 Translating the positive work of Participation and Engagement into 
measurable impact outcomes i.e. “You said We did”, changes in Policy 
and changes in service delivery. These developments will include:- 

 Developing local CiC groups - these groups are constantly 
developing and changing depending on the needs and views of 
our young people. We are aware that we need to ensure that 
we are being inclusive of all young people and aim to create 
more local groups that feed in to a central group during the 
coming year.

 In the coming months the Participation Team will be developing 
the junior element of the CiC council with the aim of younger 
children becoming involved in the participation and engagement 
process. This will provide a forum for younger children to have 
their own say on issues around the care system but in a less 
structured and formal environment.

 Looking at ways to ensure that the views and opinions of Kent 
CiC who live in other local authorities are heard. We are keen to 
improve our links with other local authority Participation Teams 
and have a ‘sharing of ideas and ways of working day’ planned 



for October 2015 with Surrey CC. We are also working in 
partnership with our digital services team to look at ways of 
communication via social media.

 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) and young 
people with disabilities - there is still an under representation of 
this cohort in the OCYPC/YAC and at participation days. In the 
coming months the VSK Participation Team will be working hard 
towards engaging with these two groups of young people, to 
enable them to have their voices heard. This will mean 
accommodating specific needs and addressing issues such as 
language barriers however a concerted effort will be made to 
engage with this cohort.

6.      Recommendations:

6.1    Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE progress made. 
         

7. Background Documents

Progress 8 measure in 2016 and 2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/45
6438/Progress_8_school_performance_measure_2015_updated_August_2015
Pdf

8. Report Author
Tony Doran
Headteacher Virtual School Kent 
Telephone: 07921038094 
e-mail: tony.doran@kent.gov.uk

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/45
mailto:tony.doran@kent.gov.uk


Appendix 1      

VSK PARTICIPATION TEAM

ANNUAL REPORT 2014-15

Business Support Officer/ 
Apprenticeship Coordinator

Service Business
Manager

Participation & Engagement 
Support Officer

Our Apprentice Team

Senior Apprentice 
Participation Worker

Participation & Engagement
Support Assistant Senior Apprentice 

Participation Worker

 

Apprentice Participation Workers

Sophia



‘Lead’ Areas for the Team include

1. Forums for children and young people in care and care leavers

VSK has responsibility for developing and supporting the Children in Care 
Council. This is comprised of a group for children aged 11-16 known as OCYPC (Our 
Children and Young People’s Council) and YAC (Young Adult Council) for young 
people aged 16-21.

These councils provide an essential forum for children in care to speak up and 
affect change in the care system. They meet on a regular basis; however the YAC 
is a relatively new group formed since the reconfiguration of Catch 22, which used 
to run the 16+ forums. The YAC has met three times, incorporating activities such 
as the LILAC questionnaire in to their meetings and membership is growing.

The OCYPC is well established and has met five times so far this year; this 
includes a county wide meeting attended by the Director of Specialist Children’s 
Services and two Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel.

 It has a core membership of 30+ young people from around the county, and 
includes several asylum-seeking young people. It however recognises that 
some of their needs require different working practices in order to be met.

The apprentices within VSK, (five of whom are care leavers) facilitate these 
groups with the assistance of the Participation Team and others within the 
service.

Increase in OCYPC Membership:

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

8 members 7 members 16 members 20 members 31 members

YAC Membership:

2015

11 members

2. Participation Activity Days October 2014 - August 2015

VSK run Participation Activity days during every school holiday. Between 
October 2014 - August 2015 there have been 17 events held with a total of 344 
children and young people attending (some children may have attended more than 
one event).  Further detail on these can be found at the end of this report.  Work is 



now taking place to reach other young people who have never attended an 
activity day.

The Participation Team has also supported Foster Carer Family Fun Days organised 
by the District Social Care Teams. There have been three events this year in 
different parts of the county that have been extremely well supported, with 
further events planned for Christmas time.

3. Challenge Cards

Through consultation with Kent Corporate Parenting Group and CiC the Participation 
Team has developed the concept of ‘Challenge Cards.’ These cards allow CiC and care 
leavers to challenge their Corporate Parents around issues facing them in care. The 
most recent challenges put forward are:

 Involve CiC in designing business cards with social workers details and 
contact information on them to help CiC know who their social workers 
are and how they can contact them. This has been taken forward and 
the apprentices have organised a competition for CiC to come up with 
some designs

 For KCC to set up a bank account for CiC where they 'match fund' or 
pay amounts into the account which the young person can access 
when they are 18.

 For young people in care to be able to see their younger siblings who 
still live with their parents or live in another placement. To meet in a 
safe place with a contact manager and not with the rest of the family.

Once these challenges have been responded to by the Kent Corporate Parenting 
Group the young people will be informed of the outcome.

Challenge cards will be discussed at every OCYPC and YAC meeting.

4. Kent Cares Town Website

The ‘Kent Cares Town’ website is a resource for CiC to access a wealth of 
information around being in care. A large part of the content for this site has been 
written and designed by the participation apprentices.   The website continues to be a 
work in progress and its contents will be refreshed in the coming months. The link is 
www.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk

5. Newsletters

Every quarter VSK apprentices create a junior and a senior newsletter which is 
distributed to CiC and colleagues. The newsletter is comprised of various sections 
relating to news around participation events, the OCYPC and YAC. The most 
current issue of the newsletter contains a wealth of information around the 
corporate parents as well as an interview with Philip Segurola, Director of Specialist 
Children’s Services. A newsletter for young people aged 16+ is currently being 
developed. The link is http://kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/our-news

http://www.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/
http://kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/our-news


6. Recruit crew

The Participation Team has supported CiC and care leavers to be involved in the 
recruitment of senior officers such as Director posts and Social Workers, including 
interviewing nearly 50 newly qualified social workers during one week in May with 
another round of interviews taking place in September. As this is a work 
stream which has really grown there is now a dedicated ‘Recruit Crew’ being 
created which will consist of CiC who are keen to be involved in recruitment. These 
children will be offered appropriate training and rewards such as vouchers, plus 
they will have an opportunity to learn interview skills and techniques for 
themselves.

7. Kent Pledge cards

Although the Kent Pledge is an important document a lot of young people found it 
difficult to understand. Based on this feedback, the Participation Team has been 
instrumental in working with the Communications Team to design a young person 
friendly version. This version takes the essence of the Kent Pledge and delivers it on 
a pack of eight cards which have been designed with children and young people in 
mind. Two sets of cards have been created to reflect the differing  levels  of 
understanding of children and young people.  These cards will also form part of the 
‘coming in to care pack.’ These are soon to be printed and circulated to CiC.

8 Coming Into Care Pack

The VSK P articipation T eam has led on the creation of a ‘coming into care 
pack’ so that essential information can be given by social workers both to children 
coming in to care and in some cases to those who are already in care. The pack 
has been designed and created through multi-disciplinary working and has 
contents from a variety of valuable sources. Consultations have also taken place 
with young people throughout the process. It is the Social Worker’s responsibility to 
ensure that young people are given the age appropriate information that they are 
able to understand when they first come into care. The information is also
hosted on the Kent Cares Town website:

     :http://kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/information-about-being-in-care

‘Support’ areas for the team

9. Locality/District Commitments

The Participation Team engages with district social work teams, the Independent 
Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service and partners across Kent to promote participation and 
engagement. Locality/district work helps to ensure the importance of participation 
and engagement is kept on the agenda. Work is taking place with the Disabled 
Children’s Service and district social work teams to improve participation and it is 
recognised this requires a different approach.

http://kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/information-about-being-in-care


10. Hearing the voice of CiC and care leavers

Surveys - The Participation Team work hard to make sure children and young people 
have their voices heard by ensuring they have the opportunity to complete surveys 
relating to being in care or just being a young person. Currently the LILAC 
questionnaire is ‘live’ and this is available at participation events and council 
meetings where children and young people are encouraged to get involved. There is 
also the Kent Safeguarding Children’s Board survey which is hosted on the Kent Cares 
Town website and is promoted by the apprentices.

Focus Groups – The Participation Team facilitate focus groups to ensure that 
Members, teams within KCC and partner agencies are hearing the views and 
opinions of CiC and care leavers. An example of this practice is meeting with the 
Corporate Parenting Select Committee to help inform their reports.

Supporting care planning – Working in conjunction with the IRO service on the 
development of young people chairing own reviews and increasing meaningful 
participation.

 11. Awards Ceremony

Each year the VSK holds an awards ceremony to celebrate achievements 
throughout the year. The Participation Team support this event by arranging some 
of the entertainment and activities for the children and young people as well as 
encouraging them to give their feedback and ideas.  The participation apprentices 
also give a presentation at this event which helps to keep their colleagues  
informed about what participation and engagement has been taking place 
throughout the year.

 12. ePEP (electronic Personal Education Plan)

The Participation and Engagement Team work with CiC to complete their own part 
of the ePEP form. This may be in either the school or home environment and largely 
means supporting the children to access their ePEP and offering guidance on the 
questions as required.

13. Buddying Support

VSK apprentices have provided ‘buddying’ support when asked to do so by social 
workers. One example was of a young person who knew two of the apprentices 
through attending participation activity days. She had to change foster placement at 
the time her social worker left and she felt anxious about this.  The young person 
asked if the apprentices could offer her support. This resulted in one of them being 
with her at the time of her move and helping her to unpack and settle in, whilst her 
social worker spoke with the foster carer.

 



14. Training

Care Leaver Apprentices are involved in the ‘Skills to Foster’ training  programmes for 
foster carers undergoing assessment. Earlier this year apprentices were involved in a 
workshop for newly qualified social workers looking at the issue of supporting young 
people as they leave care and this will be strengthened and expanded upon this 
coming year to include Participation and Engagement. A workshop has been 
designed with the involvement of the participation and engagement support officer 
and participation apprentices for newly approved foster carers and social workers 
promoting the participation and engagement of CiC.  This is being done in
conjunction with the Safeguarding Unit.

 15. Influencing the Commissioning of services

The Participation Team has been invited several times to engage with the 
Commissioning Team when they are reviewing the services currently available to 
CIC and care leavers. This has included looking at the fostering service and i s  
currently looking at the accommodation that is available for 16-25 year olds.

16. Improving Communication

It is recognised that it is important to use a variety of methods to communicate with 
children and young people and the Participation Team is working with colleagues in 
Specialist Children’s Services and the Communications Team to develop this.  Recently 
the Team attended a meeting looking at the use of an interactive system which 
allows young people to feed in to their LAC reviews, Pathway Plan and their PEP 
using technology and this tool is being considered by Senior Managers within the 
Social Care, Health and Wellbeing Directorate.

Representation at Regional and National Initiatives

17. Forums

The Council through the VSK Participation Team has been represented at several 
regional and national forums focusing on the needs and views of children and 
young people in care and care leavers. This has included attending the launch of the 
Children’s Commissioner’s ‘State of the Nation’ report, which has resulted in the 
team linking up with the Participation Team within the Children’s Commissioner’s 
Unit which although independent has a direct link to the government. 
Representatives from the team have accompanied other care leavers to the Houses 
of Parliament to hear the results of national initiatives or to serve as a focus group.

On a regional level the team is developing a relationship with Surrey County 
Council’s Participation Team with the intention of sharing good practice across 
borders and possibly joining up for an event with both Authorities children and 
young people in care councils.

Some of the Participation Team will be joining Philip Segurola (Director of SCS) and 
Peter Oakford at a regional NCB event in November called ‘Taking it to the Next 
Level’. Taking it to the Next Level shares the learning from a series of events around 



England involving corporate parents and CiC Council members, which looked at the 
factors that made their work together productive and fulfilling.

We have previously attended All-Party Parliamentary Groups, and now the group has 
been re-registered following the general election we will attend the next meeting. 

Future Work Plans

i. Developing local children in care groups - these groups are constantly developing 
and changing depending on the needs and views of our young people. We are aware 
that we need to ensure that we are being inclusive of all young people and aim to 
create more local groups that feed in to a central group during the coming year.

ii. In the coming months the participation team will be developing the junior element 
of the children in care council with the aim of younger children becoming involved in 
the participation and engagement process. This will provide a forum for younger 
children to have their own say on issues around the care system but in a less 
structured and formal environment.

iii. Looking at ways to ensure that the views and opinions of Kent children in care who 
live in other local authorities are heard. We are keen to improve our links with other 
local authority Participation Teams and have a ‘sharing of ideas and ways of working 
day’ planned for October 2015 with Surrey CC. We are also working in partnership 
with our digital services team to look at ways of communication via social media.

iv. Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) and young people with disabilities - 
there is still an under representation of this cohort in the OCYPC/YAC and at 
participation days. In the coming months the VSK Participation Team will be working 
hard towards engaging with these groups of young people, to enable them to have 
their voices heard. This will mean accommodating specific needs and addressing 
issues such as language barriers however a concerted effort will be made to engage 
these children and young people.



Participation Activity Days:

Date Location Type of Activity Number of Young 
People Attended

28/10/14 Kingswood Activity 
Centre

Outdoor/Team Building 
Activities

21

28/10/14 Hever Castle Crafts/Fancy 
Dress/Stories/Walks

23

16/02/15 to 20/02/15 Kent Mountain Centre Residential Trip 
Outdoor Activities

10

19/02/15 Swattenden Activity 
Centre

Outdoor Activities 18

20/02/15 Swattenden Activity 
Centre

Outdoor Activities 18

08/04/15 Marlowe Theatre Theatre Workshop 50

10/04/15 Wide Horizons Outdoor 
Activities/Survival Skills

24

16/04/15 Kent Gliding Club Gliding 13

17/04/15 & 19/05/15 Kent Life, Maidstone Animal Interaction, 
Zorbing, Rides

19

29/05/15 Tutsham Farm Horse Riding 13

03/08/15 This Art of Mine Art 
Studio

Arts and Crafts 31

06/08/15 Bewl Water Water Sports 36

13/08/15 Dover Water Sports 22

18/08/15 Espressions Art Studio Arts and Crafts 18

20/08/15 Espressions Art Sudio Arts and Crafts 19

21/08/15 London trip for YAC Getting to know each 
other

9

Total number of events: 17



Evaluations and Feedback from Young People:

What was your favorite part of the day? - Quotes
"Water zorbing and everything else I enjoyed it all thanks"
"My favourite part of the day was when we went rock climbing because some of us faced our fears"
"Working as a team"
"Brushing the horses and riding them"
"Everything with the participation workers"
"Making the boxes and getting real sticky!"
"Meeting new people and new friends"
"My favourite part of the day was doing the activities and talking to different people"
"The London Bridge Experience even though it scared me I'm proud I got all the way through it :)"

Enjoyed the day

Would come again

Heard about OCYPC

Would like to join OCYPC

Evaluations- % of positive feedback

0

0.02

0.04

0.06

0.08

0.1

0.12

0.14

0.16

0.18

0.2 Archery

Arts and Craft

Camping

Canoeing

Dance

Don’t know

Drama

Horse Riding

Making Music

Outdoor activities

Sport

Swimming

Team building games

Theme parks

Zip wire

Evaluations - Future Activity Requests by CiC 



2%
5% 10%

12%

14%
10%

12%

12%

12% 8%
2% 1%

6 yrs

7 yrs

8 yrs

9 yrs

10 yrs

11 yrs

12 yrs

13 yrs

14 yrs

15 yrs

16 yrs

17 yrs

Age Range of CiC Attendees

1%

12%

9%
6%

14%
17%3%

4%
7%

19%

3%
1%

4%

Ashford
Canterbury
Dartford
Dover
Gravesham
Maidstone
Sevenoaks
Shepway
Swale
Thanet
Tonbridge & Malling
Tunbridge Wells
Medway

CiC Placement District



Participation Activity Days – Summer 2015

Bewl Water:

               

       

Dover Sea Sports:

                



Arts & Crafts – Maidstone & Canterbury:

     

16+ Trip to London

VSK Awards Ceremony – September 2015:







Kent Specialist Children's Services

Produced By: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 15 September 2015

Performance Management 
Scorecards
August 2015



Produced by: Management Information Unit, KCC.  15/09/2015 Page 2

Kent Specialist Children's Services Performance Management Scorecards

Guidance Notes

POLARITY

H The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

L The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

T The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

RAG RATINGS

R A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set.

A An amber rating indicates that the current performance is close to the target set.

G A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set.

No RAG Rating RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators. Also, if the denominator is 0 no RAG rating has been applied

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL (DOT)

KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS

YTD Year to Date (April to March) CP Child Protection

Num Numerator CIC Children in Care

Denom Denominator BLA Became Looked After

R12M Rolling 12 Months SGO Special Guardianship Order

C&F Assessments Child and Family Assessments UASC Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children

CIN Child in Need SS Snapshot

PF Private Fostering QSW Qualified Social Worker

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR GRAPHS AND CHILD LEVEL DATA
The latest graphs and Child level data are published on the SCS Performance Management website

KEY CHANGES MADE TO THE REPORT THIS MONTH

SMALL DENOMINATORS

YTD DATA

ADOPTION & SG TEAM, ADOLESCENT TEAMS AND CRU

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CONTACT DETAILS
Maureen Robinson - 03000 417164 Gareth Harris - 03000 417088

Chris Nunn - 03000 417145

Paul Godden - 03000 417078

Caution should be applied in the overinterpretation of the results for those performance measures which are calculated against low numbers.  In order to highlight this, any 
denominators with a value between 1 and 9 have been highlighted in light blue. Any indicators that have a denominator that is less than 5 have no RAG rating applied to them.

Many of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is 
advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

Please note that these teams do not have an indivdual scorecard as their caseholding numbers are very small, however, the performance of the children associated with these 
teams is counted within the county and relevant area level pages

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an 
improvement in performance could either be a reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a 
worsening in performance could either be a reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.



Produced by: Management Information Unit, KCC.  15/09/2015 Page 3

Kent Specialist Children's Services Performance Management Scorecards

SCS Activity

149 148 149 149 149 148 149 149 149 148 149 148 149 149 149 148

Kent 9208 9315 -107 1046 1411 1234 1218 +16 84 70 2158 2078 +80 720 623 +97 177 80 21 23 -2

North Kent 1096 1083 +13 151 208 172 170 +2 14 11 288 294 -6 94 92 +2 7 17 7 7 0
East Kent 2405 2435 -30 334 398 499 488 +11 36 28 704 680 +24 136 115 +21 23 19 5 8 -3
South Kent 1860 1892 -32 256 415 328 319 +9 21 11 386 388 -2 79 72 +7 9 19 5 5 0
West Kent 1203 1227 -24 140 247 227 233 -6 13 20 327 330 -3 57 53 +4 6 9 4 3 +1
Disability Service 1233 1237 -4 11 69 8 8 0 0 0 98 95 +3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0

Ashford AIT & FST 467 454 +13 92 110 99 98 +1 4 3 6 7 -1 0 0 0 2 0 1 2 -1
Canterbury AIT & FST 355 361 -6 84 76 116 124 -8 3 11 14 19 -5 0 0 0 2 1 3 6 -3
Dartford AIT & FST 167 178 -11 43 58 35 34 +1 6 5 13 10 +3 0 0 0 4 0 3 3 0
Dover AIT & FST 415 448 -33 79 150 87 85 +2 9 6 4 7 -3 0 0 0 0 2 4 3 +1
Gravesham AIT & FST 405 400 +5 72 98 91 88 +3 5 2 0 2 -2 0 0 0 2 3 1 1 0
Maidstone AIT & FST 388 399 -11 71 139 120 124 -4 7 8 4 4 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 0
Sevenoaks AIT & FST 224 209 +15 36 39 38 41 -3 2 4 7 10 -3 0 0 0 1 2 3 3 0
Shepway AIT & FST 548 573 -25 76 143 139 135 +4 8 2 6 3 +3 0 0 0 7 1 0 0 0
Swale AIT & FST 576 591 -15 95 133 164 155 +9 14 2 3 4 -1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0
Thanet AIT & FST 682 695 -13 141 154 201 193 +8 18 8 12 9 +3 0 0 0 10 1 2 2 0
The Weald AIT & FST 426 452 -26 65 101 92 96 -4 6 8 3 3 0 0 0 0 3 1 3 2 +1
North Kent CIC 300 296 +4 0 13 8 7 +1 1 0 268 272 -4 94 92 +2 0 12 0 0 0
East Kent (Can/Swa) CIC 364 377 -13 0 9 5 3 +2 0 3 336 328 +8 82 76 +6 1 6 0 0 0
East Kent (Tha) CIC 428 411 +17 14 26 13 13 0 1 4 339 320 +19 54 39 +15 8 11 0 0 0
South Kent CIC 430 417 +13 9 12 3 1 +2 0 0 370 371 -1 79 72 +7 0 16 0 0 0
West Kent CIC 389 376 +13 4 7 15 13 +2 0 4 320 323 -3 57 53 +4 2 7 0 0 0
UASC AIT 356 302 +54 128 74 0 0 0 0 0 354 291 +63 354 291 +63 124 14 0 0 0
Disability EK 584 592 -8 4 41 2 2 0 0 0 62 62 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disability WK 649 645 +4 7 28 6 6 0 0 0 36 33 +3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0
Adoption & SG 106 107 -1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 +1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CDT/OOH/CRU 30 113 -83 26 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0
Care Leaver Service (18+) 919 919 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0

To
ta

l L
AC

 - 
Th

is
 

m
on

th

To
ta

l L
AC

 - 
La

st
 

m
on

th

CP
 E

nd
s i

n 
la

st
 m

on
th

PF
 C

as
es

 - 
Ch

an
ge

LA
C 

En
ds

 in
 la

st
 

m
on

th

PF
 C

as
es

 - 
Th

is
 m

on
th

P F
 C

as
es

 - 
La

st
 m

on
th

To
ta

l L
AC

 - 
Ch

an
ge

LA
C 

St
ar

ts
 in

 la
st

 
m

on
th

U
AS

C 
LA

C 
- T

hi
s 

m
on

th

U
AS

C 
LA

C 
- L

as
t 

m
on

th

U
AS

C 
LA

C 
- C

ha
ng

e

Ca
se

lo
ad

s -
 T

hi
s 

m
on

th

Re
fe

rr
al

s i
n 

la
st

 
m

on
th

CP
 P

la
ns

 - 
Th

is
 m

on
th

CP
 S

ta
rt

s i
n 

la
st

 
m

on
th

Ca
se

lo
ad

s -
 L

as
t 

m
on

th

Ca
se

lo
ad

s -
 C

ha
ng

e

CF
 A

ss
es

sm
en

ts
 in

 la
st

 
m

on
th

CP
 P

la
ns

 - 
La

st
 m

on
th

CP
 P

la
ns

 - 
Ch

an
ge



Produced by: Management Information Unit, KCC.  15/09/2015 Page 4

Kent Specialist Children's Services Performance Management Scorecards

SCS Activity

County Level

Referrals

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Aug
10

Nov
10

Feb
11

May
11

Aug
11

Nov
11

Feb
12

May
12

Aug
12

Nov
12

Feb
13

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

Caseloads over the last 5 years 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

Aug
10

Nov
10

Feb
11

May
11

Aug
11

Nov
11

Feb
12

May
12

Aug
12

Nov
12

Feb
13

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

Referrals over the last 5 years 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Aug
10

Nov
10

Feb
11

May
11

Aug
11

Nov
11

Feb
12

May
12

Aug
12

Nov
12

Feb
13

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

CP Plans over the last 5 years 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Aug
10

Nov
10

Feb
11

May
11

Aug
11

Nov
11

Feb
12

May
12

Aug
12

Nov
12

Feb
13

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

CP Starts over the last 5 years 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

Aug
10

Nov
10

Feb
11

May
11

Aug
11

Nov
11

Feb
12

May
12

Aug
12

Nov
12

Feb
13

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

LAC over the last 5 years UASC
Kent

0

50

100

150

200

250

Aug
10

Nov
10

Feb
11

May
11

Aug
11

Nov
11

Feb
12

May
12

Aug
12

Nov
12

Feb
13

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

LAC Starts over the last 5 years UASC
Kent

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Aug
10

Nov
10

Feb
11

May
11

Aug
11

Nov
11

Feb
12

May
12

Aug
12

Nov
12

Feb
13

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

UASC LAC over the last 5 years 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Aug
10

Nov
10

Feb
11

May
11

Aug
11

Nov
11

Feb
12

May
12

Aug
12

Nov
12

Feb
13

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

UASC LAC Starts over the last 5 years 



Produced by: Management Information Unit, KCC.  15/09/2015 Page 5

Lead Responsibility: Philip Segurola

Scorecard - Kent Kent 1 Aug 2015
monthly 149 149 149 149 149 148 149 144 149

Indicators Num Denom

REFERRAL AND ASSESSMENTS
% of referrals with a previous referral within 12 months L YTD 21.5% G 1370 6377 25.0% 21.5% 28.5%
% of C&F Assessments that were carried out within 45 working days H YTD 90.8% G 6324 6963 90.0% 92.1% 84.3%
Number of C&F Assessments in progress outside of timescale L SS 58 G - - 75 97 26
% of Children seen at C&F Assessment (excludes unborn/missing) H YTD 97.8% A 6418 6560 98.0% 97.9% 97.4%

CHILDREN IN NEED
% of CIN with a CIN Plan in place H SS 88.9% A 2043 2299 90.0% 87.1% 87.2%
% of CIN who have been seen in the last 28 days H SS 80.0% G 1519 1898 70.0% 79.9% 61.3%
Numbers of Unallocated Cases L SS 130 R - - 0 8 0

PRIVATE FOSTERING
% of PF notifications where initial visit held within 7 days H YTD 89.5% G 17 19 85.0% 94.4% 88.4%
% of new PF arrangements where visits were held within 6 weeks H YTD 85.7% G 12 14 85.0% 100.0% 88.0%
% of existing PF arrangements where visits were held in time H YTD 76.9% A 20 26 85.0% 80.8% 57.1%

CHILD PROTECTION
% of Current CP Plans lasting 18 months or more L SS 4.9% G 60 1234 10.0% 4.5% 5.5%
% of CP Visits held within timescale (Current CP only) H SS 92.6% G 13334 14404 90.0% 93.2% 91.5%
% of CP cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 100.0% G 892 892 98.0% 100.0% 99.4%
% of Children becoming CP for a second or subsequent time within 24 months T YTD 11.1% A 66 596 7.5% 11.7% 7.5%
% of CP Plans lasting 2 years or more at the point of de-registration L YTD 2.7% G 16 603 5.0% 2.6% 2.2%
% of Children seen at Section 47 enquiry (excludes unborn) H YTD 98.0% G 1843 1880 98.0% 98.2% 98.6%
% of ICPC's held within 15 working days of the S47 enquiry starting H YTD 82.5% G 494 599 75.0% 81.8% 80.7%
% of Initial CP Conferences that lead to a CP Plan T YTD 87.9% G 596 678 88.0% 87.8% 90.3%

CHILDREN IN CARE
CIC Placement Stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 9.6% A 207 2158 9.0% 9.0% 9.6%
CIC Placement Stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 74.2% G 416 561 70.0% 73.1% 72.7%
% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements H SS 81.7% A 1159 1418 85.0% 82.7% 82.9%
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (Excludes UASC) H SS 81.3% G 1121 1378 80.0% 82.1% 82.3%
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H YTD 94.4% A 1884 1996 95.0% 94.7% 95.6%
% of CIC cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 93.2% A 1855 1990 98.0% 95.1% 97.1%
% of CIC cases where all Dental Checks were held within required timescale H SS 92.3% G 1431 1551 90.0% 93.2% 89.0%
% of CIC cases where all Health Assessments were held within required timescale H SS 89.7% A 1392 1551 90.0% 90.7% 89.7%
% of CIC for 18 mths and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 mths H SS 52.9% G 542 1025 50.0% 47.9% 47.0%

ADOPTION
% of cases adoption agreed as plan by 2nd review, for those with an agency decision H YTD 65.4% R 17 26 86.0% 68.2% 68.2%
Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L YTD 577.0 A 29428 51 426.0 543.5 540.3
Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L YTD 256.0 R 13058 51 121.0 222.8 209.5
% of Children leaving care who were adopted H YTD 11.9% A 51 428 13.0% 13.2% 19.7%

CARE LEAVERS
% of Care Leavers that Kent is in touch with H YTD 68.8% A 379 551 75.0% 58.4% 72.9%
% of Care Leavers in Suitable Accommodation H YTD 61.9% A 341 551 78.0% 50.8% 64.9%
% of Care Leavers in Education, Employment or Training H YTD 38.7% A 213 551 45.0% 32.7% 39.3%

QUALITY ASSURANCE
% of Case File Audits completed H YTD 97.8% G 273 279 95.0% 97.8% 95.8%
% of Case File Audits rated Good or outstanding H YTD 48.4% A 132 273 60.0% 48.4% 36.2%
% of Case File Audits rated inadequate L YTD 3.3% A 9 273 0.0% 3.3% 11.9%
% of CP Social Work Reports rated good or outstanding H YTD 68.7% A 719 1046 75.0% 68.3% 71.2%
% of CIC Care Plans rated good or outstanding H YTD 63.0% G 1364 2165 60.0% 65.3% 46.6%

STAFFING
% of caseholding posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW H SS 75.1% A 330.9 440.4 85.0% 75.4% 79.0%
% of caseholding posts filled by agency staff L SS 20.1% A 88.4 440.4 15.0% 18.9% 18.6%
Average Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams L SS 16.3 A 1911 117.0 15.0 16.3 15.7
Average Caseloads of social workers in AIT & FST L SS 20.1 A 4653 231.5 20.0 20.8 20.2
Average Caseloads of fostering social workers L SS 18.8 A 875 46.6 18.0 18.9 17.3

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY
As at 31/08/2015, Kent has 19 indicators rated as Green, 22 indicators rated as Amber and 3 indicators rated as Red. When comparing performance from last month to this month, 14 indicators 
have shown an improvement, 4 indicators have remained the same and 26 indicators have shown a reduction. When comparing performance from outturn (March 15) to this month, 22 
indicators have shown an improvement, 0 indicators have remained the same and 22 indicators have shown a reduction.

OUTTURN RESULT

Outturn 
(March 

15) Result

DoT from 
outturn to 

latest 
result

Kent Specialist Children's Services Performance Management Scorecards

LATEST RESULT

Po
la

rit
y Previous 

Reported 
Result

DoT from 
previous 
to latest 

result

PREVIOUS RESULT

Data 
Period

Latest Result 
and RAG Status

Target for 
15/16



Produced by: Management Information Unit, KCC.  15/09/2015 Page 26

Scorecard - CIC Indicators - Impact of UASC Kent 1 Kent 1

monthly 149 149 149 149 149 149 149 149 149

Indicators Num Denom Num Denom

CHILDREN IN CARE - KENT
CIC Placement Stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 9.6% A 207 2158 9.0% 9.5% A 137 1438 -0.1%
CIC Placement Stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 74.2% G 416 561 70.0% 74.0% G 413 558 -0.1%
% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements H SS 81.7% A 1159 1418 85.0% 86.2% G 1023 1187 +4.4%
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (Excludes UASC) H SS 81.3% G 1121 1378 80.0% 81.3% G 1121 1378 -
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H YTD 94.4% A 1884 1996 95.0% 96.4% G 1308 1357 +2.0%
% of CIC cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 93.2% A 1855 1990 98.0% 98.9% G 1380 1396 +5.6%
% of CIC cases where all Dental Checks were held within required timescale H SS 92.3% G 1431 1551 90.0% 93.0% G 1171 1259 +0.7%
% of CIC cases where all Health Assessments were held within required timescale H SS 89.7% A 1392 1551 90.0% 92.1% G 1160 1259 +2.4%
% of CIC for 18 mths and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 mths H SS 52.9% G 542 1025 50.0% 56.0% G 538 961 +3.1%

CHILDREN IN CARE - NORTH KENT
CIC Placement Stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 14.9% R 43 288 9.0% 11.9% A 23 194 -3.1%
CIC Placement Stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 73.9% G 51 69 70.0% 73.5% G 50 68 -0.4%
% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements H SS 77.1% A 148 192 85.0% 81.1% A 133 164 +4.0%
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (Excludes UASC) H SS 77.3% A 143 185 80.0% 77.3% A 143 185 -
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H YTD 94.6% A 263 278 95.0% 94.9% A 168 177 +0.3%
% of CIC cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 99.6% G 282 283 98.0% 100.0% G 189 189 +0.4%
% of CIC cases where all Dental Checks were held within required timescale H SS 95.5% G 236 247 90.0% 96.4% G 162 168 +0.9%
% of CIC cases where all Health Assessments were held within required timescale H SS 96.8% G 239 247 90.0% 99.4% G 167 168 +2.6%
% of CIC for 18 mths and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 mths H SS 50.7% G 74 146 50.0% 58.5% G 72 123 +7.9%

CHILDREN IN CARE - EAST KENT
CIC Placement Stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 9.2% A 65 704 9.0% 9.3% A 53 568 +0.1%
CIC Placement Stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 77.2% G 173 224 70.0% 77.0% G 171 222 -0.2%
% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements H SS 90.3% G 495 548 85.0% 92.4% G 449 486 +2.1%
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (Excludes UASC) H SS 88.9% G 490 551 80.0% 88.9% G 490 551 -
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H YTD 94.4% A 625 662 95.0% 96.8% G 520 537 +2.4%
% of CIC cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 97.5% A 666 683 98.0% 98.0% A 536 547 +0.5%
% of CIC cases where all Dental Checks were held within required timescale H SS 88.9% A 528 594 90.0% 89.4% A 439 491 +0.5%
% of CIC cases where all Health Assessments were held within required timescale H SS 85.4% A 507 594 90.0% 88.4% A 434 491 +3.0%
% of CIC for 18 mths and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 mths H SS 55.4% G 221 399 50.0% 58.2% G 219 376 +2.9%

CHILDREN IN CARE - SOUTH KENT
CIC Placement Stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 13.0% R 50 386 9.0% 10.7% A 33 307 -2.2%
CIC Placement Stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 72.6% G 77 106 70.0% 72.6% G 77 106 0.0%
% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements H SS 88.9% G 256 288 85.0% 87.6% G 219 250 -1.3%
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (Excludes UASC) H SS 83.6% G 245 293 80.0% 83.6% G 245 293 -
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H YTD 96.2% G 383 398 95.0% 96.4% G 291 302 +0.1%
% of CIC cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 98.7% G 373 378 98.0% 98.7% G 295 299 -0.0%
% of CIC cases where all Dental Checks were held within required timescale H SS 98.8% G 329 333 90.0% 98.9% G 266 269 +0.1%
% of CIC cases where all Health Assessments were held within required timescale H SS 92.8% G 309 333 90.0% 92.2% G 248 269 -0.6%
% of CIC for 18 mths and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 mths H SS 56.2% G 114 203 50.0% 59.1% G 114 193 +2.9%

CHILDREN IN CARE - WEST KENT
CIC Placement Stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 10.7% A 35 327 9.0% 9.6% A 26 270 -1.1%
CIC Placement Stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 67.8% A 80 118 70.0% 67.8% A 80 118 0.0%
% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements H SS 77.0% A 188 244 85.0% 79.1% A 178 225 +2.1%
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (Excludes UASC) H SS 73.5% A 186 253 80.0% 73.5% A 186 253 -
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H YTD 96.6% G 282 292 95.0% 98.3% G 237 241 +1.8%
% of CIC cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 99.1% G 319 322 98.0% 99.6% G 264 265 +0.6%
% of CIC cases where all Dental Checks were held within required timescale H SS 87.1% A 249 286 90.0% 89.6% A 216 241 +2.6%
% of CIC cases where all Health Assessments were held within required timescale H SS 88.8% A 254 286 90.0% 94.6% G 228 241 +5.8%
% of CIC for 18 mths and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 mths H SS 43.4% A 86 198 50.0% 45.3% A 86 190 +1.8%

Variance 
with 
UASC  

excluded

INCLUDING UASC

Latest Result 
and RAG Status

Kent Specialist Children's Services Performance Management Scorecards

EXCLUDING UASC

Target for 
15/16

Po
la

rit
y

Data 
Period

Latest Result 
and RAG Status


	Agenda
	A2 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 3 September 2015
	A3 Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group held on 24 September 2015, and brief verbal update
	A6 Verbal Updates
	B2 Independent Reviewing Officer Service Annual Report 2014/15
	B2 - App 1 IRO Annual Report 2014 to 2015

	B3 Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) Annual Report 2014- 2015
	B4 - App 1 Participation Team Annual Report 2014-15

	B4 Kent Specialist Children's Services Performance Management Scorecards, August 2015
	Front Cover
	Guidance Notes
	Activity Page 1
	Activity Page 2
	Kent
	SCS Performance Scorecard - 2015-08.pdf
	Exc UASC



